



Wayne State University

Wayne State University Dissertations

January 2019

Gay And Lesbian Discrimination In The Workplace: The Role Of **Agentic And Communal Trait Expectations**

Daniel Krenn Wayne State University, daniel.r.krenn@nasa.gov

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations



Part of the Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Krenn, Daniel, "Gay And Lesbian Discrimination In The Workplace: The Role Of Agentic And Communal Trait Expectations" (2019). Wayne State University Dissertations. 2172. https://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations/2172

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.

GAY AND LESBIAN DISCRIMINATION IN THE WORKPLACE: THE ROLE OF AGENTIC AND COMMUNAL TRAIT EXPECTATIONS

by

DANIEL R KRENN

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

2019	
MAJOR:	
PSYCHOLOGY(Industrial/Organizational)	
Approved By:	
Advisor	Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Boris Baltes, for consistent feedback, recommendations, and support (both motivational and monetary). I would also like to thank my dissertation committee members, Dr. Shanique Brown, Dr. Kim Jaffee, and Dr. Louis Penner, each with their unique research backgrounds, for useful insight and feedback throughout the dissertation process.

In addition to those mentioned above, I want to thank the psychology faculty at both Wayne State University and Auburn University that contributed to my psychological, methodological, and statistical knowledge that helped me write this dissertation including Dr. Justin Carre, Dr. Malissa Clark, Dr. Marcus Dickson, Dr. Martha Escobar, Dr. Sebastiano Fisicaro, Dr. Seth Gitter, Dr. Jason Huang, Dr. Cary Lichtman, Dr. Lisa Marchiondo, Dr. Alyssa McGonagle, Dr. Dan Svyantek, Dr. Adrian Thomas, Dr. Larry Williams, and Dr. John Woodard.

I want to thank my fellow graduate students, especially my cohort (Dr. Shan Ran and Dr. Greg Thrasher) for helping to keep me motivated and focused throughout my time in graduate school, especially during the most stressful periods. I want to specifically thank Dr. Kevin Wynne, Dr. Ben Biermeier-Hanson, and Wyatt Stahl for supporting me throughout my years in graduate school. I also want to thank the graduate students that helped me to formulate and fine-tune this idea into a useful, usable dissertation topic.

I want to thank my former coworkers at Mobile County Personnel Board and my current coworkers at NASA for helping to improve the methodology, proof the manuscript, and pilot test the survey. I want to thank my parents for providing feedback, proofreading, and giving an outsider's perspective to the premise of my dissertation.

Finally, I want to thank my wife, Lindsay. At times, graduate school, including the completion of this dissertation, was emotionally and mentally challenging. I could not have made it through this process without the support and patience of my wife.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	ii
Table of Contents	iv
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Chapter 2 Discrimination	5
Structure of Discrimination	5
Workplace Discrimination	10
Chapter 3 Gay and Lesbian Discrimination	19
Gay and Lesbian Workplace Discrimination	21
Chapter 4 Role Congruity	28
Chapter 5 Present Study and Hypotheses	36
Chapter 6 Method	41
Pilot Test	41
Participants	41
Design	42
Procedure	43
Measures	43
Chapter 7 Analyses	46
Chapter 8 Discussion	56
Theoretical Implications	58
Practical Implications	60
Limitations and Directions	61
Conclusion	63

Appendices	64
Appendix A	64
Appendix B	77
Appendix C	93
References	97
Abstract1	19
Autobiographical Statement1	20

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

It is well established in the personnel management literature that discrimination exists in a variety of organizational processes including personnel selection (Arvey, 1979; Landy & Farr, 1980). For instance, previous research has shown that preferential treatment for certain races or genders frequently occurs in organizational settings (Kraiger & Ford, 1985; Maurer & Taylor, 1994; McConahay, 1983).

One demographic identity that has received little attention in the organizational literature is sexual orientation. Despite changes in scientific understanding of sexual orientation and steadily changing attitudes regarding sexual orientation in society, sexual minorities such as gay men and lesbian women continue to be disadvantaged in society due to stereotyping and prejudice (LeBlanc, Frost, & Wight, 2015; McFadden, 2015; McPhail, McNulty, & Hutchings, 2016; Ragins, 2004). Because of these disadvantages, gay men and lesbian women experience higher stress and more mental health problems than heterosexual men and women (Ragins, 2004; Szymanski, 2006).

Extant evidence suggests that gay men and lesbian women experience interpersonal forms of discrimination, though evidence of formal discrimination is inconsistent (Hebl, Foster, Mannix, & Dovidio, 2002; Ragins, 2004). Examinations of formal discrimination (i.e., discrimination occurring in formal organizational processes such as personnel selection or performance appraisal) in gay and lesbian individuals have shown mixed results. For example, Hebl et al. (2002) examined discrimination against gay job applicants. In spite of finding evidence of interpersonal discrimination, there was little evidence of formal discrimination in their study. Van Hoye and Lievens (2003) found comparable results when assessing biases in the hirability of gay applicants. However, other research supports the presence of formal discrimination. Most notably, Horvath

and Ryan (2003) found that employability ratings of sexual minorities differed from straight individuals with sexual minority applicants being rated higher than straight women but lower than straight men.

There are a few explanations for these disparities. One possible explanation is that existing formal discrimination is still subtle. Eagly and Carli (2007) suggest that women must travel through a metaphorical labyrinth to advance into higher positions in a company (i.e., advancement is possible, but more difficult for women). Perhaps a similar effect is happening with gay and lesbian employees. In fact, McPhail et al. (2016) found that gay and lesbian expatriate workers face similar barriers to advancement.

Another possibility is that gay men may experience discrimination differently than lesbian women. More specifically, they may experience discrimination in different contexts, in different ways, or to different extents. Related to this second explanation, different expectations may be held for gay men versus lesbian women. In support of this explanation, Sawyer, Salter, and Thoroughgood (2013) argued that the study of single identity components (e.g., sexual orientation, gender, etc.) is an inadequate approach to studying diversity-related issues. More explicitly, different minority groups face different challenges, and only studying one component of an identity fails to encompass all of the challenges that a person may face (Purdie-Vaughns & Eibach, 2008; Sawyer et al., 2013).

Therefore, the answer to understanding how or when discrimination against gay men and lesbian women occurs may be found at the intersection of sexual orientation and other demographic identities. Some studies have explored this intersection between sexual orientation and demographic identities (e.g., Pedulla, 2014). However, more research is needed to understand the complex interrelationships among sexual orientation and other demographic identities on

discrimination at work. This paper focuses on the interaction between gender and sexual orientation.

One mechanism, role expectations, may influence how gay men and lesbian women are perceived differentially in the workplace. Specifically, Role Congruity Theory, which refers to role expectations brought on by demographic stereotypes, may explain this disparity (Eagly & Karau, 2002). Gay men and lesbian women are often stereotyped as having characteristics that are opposite of the stereotype for their gender (Kite & Deaux, 1987). Men and women are socialized to behave in stereotypically masculine and feminine ways (Cleveland, Stockdale, & Murphy, 2000). For example, men are expected to be aggressive and macho, while women are expected to be passive and caring (Cleveland et al., 2000; Ely & Meyerson, 2008). However, men and women are penalized when acting in ways that are inconsistent with gender stereotypes (Rudman & Glick, 1999). These differing traits/behaviors are referred to as communal (passive, friendly) and agentic (aggressive, dominating). While these stereotypes exist, contrary stereotypes exist for gay men and lesbian women. Gay males are frequently perceived as being more feminine, while lesbian women are frequently perceived as being more masculine (Kite & Deaux, 1987). Further supporting this premise, Tilcsik, Anteby, and Knight (2015) found evidence of career disparities gender stereotypes for gay and lesbian employees. If this is the case, perhaps trait and behavioral expectations in gay men and lesbian women are reversed from those of straight individuals.

Discrimination against gay and lesbian employees induces negative effects on those employees (Ragins, 2004). However, discrimination against gay and lesbian employees also has organizational implications, as it has been related to both task and contextual performance (Brenner, Lyons, & Fassinger, 2010; Cunningham, 2011). Therefore, more research is needed to identify the causes of gay and lesbian discrimination. The study presented in this paper examines

how gender non-conformity stereotypes of gay men and lesbian women may explain bias against gay men and lesbian women in personnel selection. First, key research on stereotyping and discrimination both outside of and inside of the workplace is reviewed. Then emerging issues among sexual minorities are discussed. The relationship between Role Congruity Theory and sexual orientation discrimination is explained. Finally, a study that examines the complexity of sexual orientation discrimination in workplace personnel selection is presented.

CHAPTER 2 DISCRIMINATION

Structure of Discrimination

Discrimination is a specific behavior aimed at an individual or group of individuals because of a stigmatized identity (Esses, Haddock, & Zanna, 1993). Discrimination can be positive (giving a particular group too much credit or favor) or negative (giving a particular group too little credit or favor). Discrimination occurs as a result of stereotyping and prejudice (Talaska, Fiske, & Chaiken, 2008). Stereotypes are cognitive appraisals or attitudes formed about a given group of people (Esses et al., 1993). Attitudes such as stereotypes are often formed because humans make quick judgments about an object or person based on the limited information available in a given situation (Wilson, Lindsey, & Schooler, 2000). Prejudice was defined by Allport (1954) as "an antipathy based on a faulty and inflexible generalization" and is expressed as an emotional reaction to an outgroup (Esses et al., 1993). Turner, Hewstone, and Voci (2007) suggested that this emotional appraisal is an anxiety-based evaluation. Anxiety, and the closely related emotion of fear, have an evolutionary cause and frequently elicit natural defensive responses (Ohman, 2008). If the anxiety in these evaluations functions in a similar way, discrimination may be an anxiety-based response to outgroup fear.

There is evidence that discrimination is changing. Modern discrimination can exist in a variety of forms, including overt, obvious, and intentional, as well as an ambiguous and unintentional (Fiske, 2002). Discrimination can also come in the form of microaggressions which are subtle often nonverbal actions (e.g., facial expressions) as well as subtle insults used in a discriminatory manner (Sue et al., 2007). Furthermore, biases now often function at an implicit level such that people are often unaware of their own biases, and people are even less likely to acknowledge their own stereotypes and prejudices when they see discrimination occurring toward

others (Fiske, 2002; Greenwald & Banaji, 1995; Jones et al., 2017; O'Brien et al., 2010). Because of this, discrimination has changed from an overt phenomenon to a covert phenomenon (Dovidio & Gaertner, 2000). This covert form of discrimination is often referred to as implicit discrimination. Even in interpersonal forms of discrimination, most discrimination is more in line with incivility, rudeness, and microaggression rather than overt manifestations such as bullying (Cortina, 2008; Sue et al., 2007). Evidence of this has been found for a variety of stigmatized groups. Dovidio and Gaertner (2000) proposed that racial discrimination in hiring has become a subtle phenomenon. Ambiguous and often unintentional biases affect how racial minorities are perceived, which in turn affects how likely they are to be hired. Such biases are often influenced by competence stereotypes functioning at an automatic level (Rodenborg & Boisen, 2013). Like racism, sexism is also becoming increasingly covert and subtle (Melgoza & Cox, 2009; Swim, Aikin, Hall, & Hunter, 1995). Implicit discrimination also exists towards other groups. For instance, Muslims often face implicit prejudice and discrimination (Park, Malachi, Sternin, & Tevet, 2009). Subtle forms of discrimination and implicit bias also exist against the gay men and lesbian women (Burke et al., 2015; Hoffarth & Hodson, 2014).

There are many theories that explain why discrimination occurs. If discrimination results from stereotypes and prejudices, understanding the causes of discrimination is contingent on understanding the causes of prejudices and stereotypes. One classic theory of both stereotyping and prejudice is ingroup-outgroup theory. Grounded in the evolutionary perspective, ingroup-outgroup theory accepts the proposition that humans throughout history have formed groups with those that are similar to them for survival and reproductive success (Brewer, 1999; Hewstone, Rubin, & Willis, 2002; Schneider, 2004). This theory proposes that genetic success is most likely for people who help their own group and are distrustful of people in rival groups (Brewer, 1999;

Hewstone et al., 2002). Evidence of this phenomenon exists in many classic studies, including the Robbers Cave Study, which found that even obscure distinctions can lead to ingroup favoritism and outgroup skepticism when groups are in competition (Sherif, Harvey, White, Hood, & Sherif, 1961). These feelings can lead to prejudice toward the outgroup. Furthermore, the outgroup homogeneity effect suggests that we assume individuals of outgroups are very similar to each other (Mullen & Hu, 1989).

Stereotyping often results from our desire to oversimplify the world. Termed social categorization, this theory suggests that humans put people into social categories in order to make snap judgments about them (Schneider, 2004). The representativeness heuristic is used to simplify the world in order to more readily make sense of it (Kahneman & Tversky, 1972). Unfortunately, this heuristic can go awry by oversimplifying people into categories (Schneider, 2004). This categorization combined with misinformation leads to the formation of stereotypes (Schneider, 2004).

Other explanations for stereotyping are a result of misinformation and how our brain interprets this misinformation. Factors such as cognitive errors and lack of intergroup contact often perpetuate stereotypes. For example, confirmation bias is a common error in which individuals ignore information that is contrary to their belief while carefully processing information that supports their belief (Nickerson, 1998). This relates to stereotyping in that people form opinions about a group of people and those opinions become difficult to break because they look for information that only confirms their stereotype and ignore information that refutes it. Another issue that often follows misinformation is that the stereotype is never challenged. Allport (1954) stated that intergroup contact is potentially a way to break stereotypes. However, this contact often does

not happen because we tend to congregate around people that are similar to ourselves (Avery, 2006).

A final theory, scapegoat theory, provides an additional explanation for why prejudice exists. Scapegoat theory posits that people tend to blame their problems on outgroups (Lindzey, 1950). This blame leads to resentment of the outgroup, which creates the emotional-cognitive element of prejudice.

Regardless of the reason for its existence or the form in which it is occurring, discrimination has consistently been related to a variety of negative outcomes. Discrimination has been shown to affect both physical and mental health (Kessler, Mickelson, & Williams, 1999; Pascoe & Smart Richman, 2009). A meta-analysis of both overt and subtle discrimination found that discrimination within organizations leads to negative individual and organizational outcomes (Jones, Peddie, Gilrane, King, & Gray, 2013). The effects of discrimination extend to the target's perceptions of their own abilities as well as leading to stereotype threat (Steele & Aronson, 1995).

Stigmatized Identities and Identity Issues

Discrimination can occur when an individual endorses a stereotype about or is prejudiced against people with a specific identity. Therefore, identities are a key component of discrimination. Identities can exist in multiple forms, and are often stereotyped as having certain characteristics which are referred to as stigmas. Some identities are negatively stigmatized, while others are positively stigmatized. For example the warmth-competence model states that identities fall along two spectrums: warmth, which refers to friendliness and competence, which refers to perceived ability (Fiske, 2002). This model suggests that demographic groups are stereotyped as being varying degrees of friendly and varying degrees of capable. For example, the elderly are

stigmatized as being friendly but lacking in capability compared to other demographic groups.

Other identities such as the rich are stigmatized as being competent but unfriendly.

The issue of identity visibility adds an additional level of complexity to the study of stigmas and stereotypes. Some identities, such as race and gender are usually visible, while identities such as sexual orientation, social class, and religion are usually invisible identities (Chaudoir & Quinn, 2010).. However, there are instances where seemingly visible identities can be less visible, and seemingly invisible identities can be visible. For example, though religion is generally an invisible identity, certain religions require visible elements such as head coverings, which makes the identity visible (Ghumman & Ryan, 2013). The opposite can also be true. Though race is a visible identity, race is not always clear. Many individuals are multiracial and have unique challenges that are different from individuals of a single race (Good, Sanchez, & Chavez, 2013; Shih & Sanchez, 2009). Therefore, identity categories are not necessarily inherently visible or invisible.

The visibility of identity also creates unique challenges because visible and invisible identities affect people in unique ways. People with visible identities have no way of escaping discrimination as their identity is readily recognizable. However, invisible identities require the individual to make a decision about whether or not to disclose the identity (Chaudoir & Fisher, 2010; Chaudoir & Quinn, 2010; Ragins, 2008). For those who disclose, they risk discrimination just like those with visible identities (Jones & King, 2014; Ragins, 2008). For those who choose to hide their identity, they risk negative affective and cognitive outcomes related to the stress of hiding the identity from others (Jones & King, 2014). Additionally, those who choose to hide their stigmatized identity often experience lower perceptions of belongingness in their group (Newheiser & Barreto, 2014). The negative effects of hiding an identity can be perpetuated when considering that our lives contain multiple domains. Ragins (2008) suggests that hiding an identity

at work while disclosing the identity outside of work leads to a disclosure disconnect. Hiding an identity often leads to further distress because the individual must act differently in different domains of their life.

Another issue related to identities is that we all have more than one identity. Most research on discrimination focuses on how a single stigmatized identity leads to mistreatment. However, identities are often more complicated than that. Sawyer et al. (2013) argued that organizational research is devoting too much attention to individual identities and is failing to account for the intersection of multiple identities. The intersectionality approach suggests that that we need to focus on the interaction of multiple identities rather than focusing our attention on individual identities (Purdie-Vaughns & Eibach, 2008). Evidence for why intersectionality is important can be found in previous research on intersectional identity. For example, stigmatization and discrimination of genders can differ by age, race, and sexual orientation (Diamond & Butterworth, 2008; Ruggs, Hebl, Walker, & Fa-Kaji, 2014; Walker & Melton, 2015). Discrimination based on sexual orientation can differ by race and age (Bowleg, 2013; Cronin & King, 2010; Foglia & Fredriksen-Goldsen, 2014). Therefore, more research is needed to examine the interaction of multiple identities.

Workplace Discrimination

Within the context of the workplace, similar issues emerge when examining stigmatization and discrimination based on identity. Particularly, workplace discrimination also results in negative outcomes regardless of the source or location (Landy & Farr, 1980; Pascoe & Smart Richman, 2009; Ragins, 2004). Due to the variety of identities that are often stereotyped, workplace discrimination is as complex as discrimination in other life domains, taking on many

forms and affecting many individuals in various ways (Fiske, 2002; Hebl et al., 2002; Ruggs et al., 2014). Similarly, discrimination can also be overt or covert in organizational settings.

Like other kinds of discrimination, workplace discrimination can also be targeted at individuals for a variety of social identities. Of these identities, race and gender have been well explored (Heilman & Eagly, 2008; McConahay, 1983). For example, different races are often evaluated differently in both hiring and performance appraisal (Jones et al., 2017; Landy & Farr, 1980; McConahay, 1983). Regarding gender, men are often evaluated more favorably than women, and are given more favorability in promotions and networking as well (Eagly & Carli, 2007; Ibarra, Carter, & Silva, 2010; Landy & Farr, 1980). In addition to race and gender, other demographic characteristics—can be the basis for discrimination as well, including age, attractiveness, religion, weight, and sexual orientation (Agerström & Rooth, 2011; Ghumman & Ryan, 2013; Hebl et al., 2002; Heilman & Stopeck, 1985; Posthuma & Campion, 2009).

Though some parallels can be drawn between general discrimination research and workplace or organizational discrimination, there are some differences. Most notably, workplace discrimination offers unique avenues for people with stereotypes and/or prejudice to discriminate against others. One main difference between organizational and non-organizational settings is that power and role structure are more established. In non-organizational discrimination settings and organizational settings alike, there are interpersonal forms of discrimination such that one person mistreats another in a social interaction based on a characteristic (e.g., race, gender, etc.). However, organizational research has the added complexity of the source of discrimination where mistreatment may come from a supervisor, peer, subordinate, or customer. Hershcovis (2011) stated that the dynamics and outcomes of workplace mistreatment are contingent on the nature of the relationship between the perpetrator and the victim. Therefore, discrimination might be slightly

different in organizations depending on where the discrimination is coming from. Another main difference between organizational and non-organizational discrimination is the configuration of formal discrimination. Formal discrimination in organizations usually refers to unfairness in personnel practices that favors certain demographic identities over others.

There are many ways in which formal mistreatment can occur within an organization. Formal discrimination has commonly been studied in the personnel selection context and can occur at the organizational level. For example, organizations can use biased tests or appraisals that result in adverse impact and potentially show differential validity across demographics (Aguinis, Culpepper, & Pierce, 2010; Berry, Clark, & McClure, 2011). Formal discrimination can also occur at the individual level in the form of unfairness in judgment-based organizational processes. For example, some groups may receive more favorable treatment in personnel processes such as hiring, promotion, etc. (Kulik, Roberson, & Perry, 2007).

Such discrimination can also occur in performance appraisal contexts such that stigmatized groups receive unfair evaluations from performance raters (Jones et al., 2017; Landy & Farr, 1980). Like other forms of workplace discrimination, performance appraisal discrimination occurs across a variety of identities (Jones et al., 2017; Landy & Farr, 1980). One demographic characteristic that is commonly stereotyped in terms of performance appraisal is race (Jones et al., 2017; Kraiger & Ford, 1985, 1990; Landy & Farr, 1980). The source of racial bias in performance appraisal exists from a variety of sources including supervisors and customers (Kraiger & Ford, 1990; Lynn & Sturman, 2011). Another stigmatized identity in performance appraisal is gender (Heilman & Eagly, 2008; Landy & Farr, 1980; Maurer & Taylor, 1994). However, one difference between gender bias and racial bias in performance appraisal is that gender stigmatization seems to be context dependent while racial stigmatization occurs consistently across contexts. More

specifically, women are more likely to receive unfair evaluations than men on the whole (Heilman & Eagly, 2008). However, discrimination is also partially dependent on factors such as job type where men are more likely to be underrated in feminine stereotyped jobs and women are likely to be underrated in masculine stereotyped jobs (Heilman & Wallen, 2010; Heilman, Wallen, Fuchs, & Tamkins, 2004; Maurer & Taylor, 1994). Other identities also trigger stigmatization and bias in the performance appraisal process including physical attractiveness and disability status. Ratees with varying levels of physical attractiveness are likely to receive differential ratings even if their performance is of equal quality (Colella & Varma, 1999; Heilman & Stopeck, 1985; Ren, Paetzold, & Colella, 2008).

Previous research suggests that interpersonal discrimination is common against sexual minorities within organizations (Hebl et al., 2002; Ragins, 2004). However, findings regarding formal discrimination are a little less clear. Some research suggests that formal discrimination is uncommon against gay men and lesbian women (Hebl et al., 2002). Other researchers have found evidence of formal forms of discrimination against gay men and lesbian women (Drydakis, 2015; Ng, Schweitzer, & Lyons, 2012). Finally, some research suggests that formal discrimination against gay men and lesbian women exists, but in an unclear way. For example, in one study, Horvath & Ryan (2003) found that, in personnel selection decisions, straight men were favored over gay men and lesbian women, but that gay men and lesbian women were favored over straight women. To further explore how formal discrimination may occur against gay men and lesbian women, it is important to first understand how formal forms of discrimination occur toward other groups in organizations.

Discrimination in Personnel selection.

One way in which formal workplace discrimination is common is in the context of personnel selection. In part because personnel selection is often judgement based, biases against stigmatized groups can potentially affect who gets selected and the extent to which the process is fair (Gatewood, Feild, & Barrick, 2008). Furthermore, personnel selection systems often draw on multiple assessments. Because varied personnel selection devices can be used, workplace discrimination in personnel selection can occur in many different ways. One way in which personnel selection discrimination can occur is with biased testing or assessment devices, most notably cognitive ability tests. As discussed previously, such devices often show adverse impact, and may potentially show differential validity across demographics such as race (Aguinis et al., 2010; Berry et al., 2011). Though cognitive ability tests are often considered the best predictors of future job performance, they potentially lead to organizational discrimination against various demographic groups (Berry et al., 2011; Gatewood et al., 2008). However, problems with such tests have been debated, and use of additional measures in the personnel selection system can often decrease the adverse impact caused by cognitive ability tests (Gatewood et al., 2008; Hunter, Schmidt, & Hunter, 1979; Sackett, Schmitt, Ellingson, & Kabin, 2001; Schmidt & Hunter, 1981). Arguably, the larger source of discrimination in personnel selection results from use of subjective judgements. Though subjectivity and intuition introduce increased levels of bias into the personnel selection process, organizations still tend to rely on them too often (Highhouse, 2008). Previous research has found that subjective components of the personnel selection process potentially bias personnel selection decisions. One example of this is with initial call backs. Stigmatized groups may be eliminated early in the personnel selection process as bias may stop them from passing through initial screening (Agerström & Rooth, 2011; Ghumman & Ryan, 2013). Another common source of personnel selection bias is in interviews, especially low structure interviews (Gatewood

et al., 2008). Such interviews can result in unfair evaluations and discrimination (Gatewood et al., 2008; Prewett-Livingston, Feild, & Lewis, 1996; Rudman & Glick, 1999). However, discrimination can also occur when managers are asked to evaluate biodata sources such as profiles, resumes, and applications forms (Atwater & Van Fleet, 1997; Cunningham, 2011; Glick, Zion, & Nelson, 1988; Horvath & Ryan, 2003; Marlowe, Schneider, & Nelson, 1996; McConahay, 1983; Ruggs et al., 2014).

Discrimination in personnel selection affects a wide variety of stigmatized groups (Cotton, O'Neill, & Griffin, 2008; Cunningham, 2011; Ghumman & Ryan, 2013; McConahay, 1983; Rudman & Glick, 1999). One commonly studied demographic is race. This can occur in multiple forms, but often results from implicit racism and stereotypes about the work ethic and abilities of various racial groups (Jones et al., 2017; McConahay, 1983). Even when groups are used as collective evaluators of applicants, the process can be biased in favor of some races over others. Within the context of panel interviews, Prewett-Livingston et al. (1996) suggest that the demographic distribution of race in the panel can influence how likely racism is likely to affect the outcome. Other similar characteristics have also been shown to affect personnel selection outcomes. Immigrants with names that appear foreign or strong accents are less likely to be selected (Cotton et al., 2008; Hosoda & Stone-Romero, 2010). Physical characteristics such as age, weight, and attractiveness have been shown to influence personnel selection outcomes (Agerström & Rooth, 2011; Marlowe et al., 1996; Ruggs et al., 2014). Less physical identities such as religious identity can also lead to stigmatization and discrimination, especially religions that require physical identifiers such as hijabs (Ghumman & Ryan, 2013).

Another commonly studied identity that can influence decisions in personnel selection is gender. For instance, Marlowe et al. (1996) found that gender affected perceptions of hirability

and expectations for future success of applicants. Other studies have also found main effects of gender on personnel selection decisions (Horvath & Ryan, 2003). However, there are some limitations on gender's effect on hiring decisions. One example of this is that gender biases may change with age. Ruggs et al. (2014) found that older men may be more disadvantaged than older women in personnel selection contexts. An additional example of limitations on gender differences in personnel selection is that it may be job specific. Gender bias may result from a perceived misfit between a person and a job such that men may be favored in some contexts while women may be favored in others (Eagly & Karau, 2002; Rudman & Glick, 1999). In line with Role Congruity Theory, stigmatization and discrimination can result from the extent to which a given behavior is congruent with expectations of a given role. In other words, men may be favored in positions that are typically perceived as masculine, while women may be favored in positions that are typically perceived as feminine. Previous research supports this proposition as men are often discriminated against in jobs that are traditionally associated with men and women are more likely to be favored in jobs that are traditionally associated with women (Atwater & Van Fleet, 1997; Glick et al., 1988; Heilman & Wallen, 2010).

A final identity that may affect personnel selection decisions is sexual orientation. Research on sexual orientation in personnel selection has provided mixed results. There is some evidence that formal discrimination in personnel selection against sexual minorities is uncommon (Hebl et al., 2002). However, other research suggests that stigmatization of sexual minorities does affect hiring decisions (Horvath & Ryan, 2003). Furthermore, sexual minorities are less likely to be preferred for jobs than straight men and women (Cunningham, Sartore, & McCullough, 2010).

Like other forms of discrimination, identity stigmatization can be more complex than a single identity. On one hand, applicants for jobs often fall into multiple categories. Depending on

which category or categories are active in the evaluator's mind, the individual might be evaluated more or less favorably (Kulik et al., 2007). Some researchers have proposed that only one category can be active, and if an applicant has multiple stigmatized identities, that they will be no worse off than an individual with just a single stigmatized identity (Kulik et al., 2007). However, other researchers have suggested that the opposite may be true. One such theory, identity intersectionality, suggests that it is not a single identity but a combination of our identities that influences our likelihood of facing discrimination (Purdie-Vaughns & Eibach, 2008; Sawyer et al., 2013). Identities can interact with each other to produce differential effects (Horvath & Ryan, 2003; Marlowe et al., 1996; Ruggs et al., 2014). Evidence of how intersectional identities can influence personnel selection processes exists in studies that find interactions between identities on personnel selection outcomes. For example, Ruggs et al. (2014) found that age and gender interact to influence personnel selection outcomes. Specifically, gender bias is more likely to favor men than women (Cleveland et al., 2000). However, there are exceptions to this. One exception is if the applicants are older. Older males face stronger stereotypes of being unable to perform the job than older females (Ruggs et al., 2014). Gender has also been shown to interact with attractiveness to influence hiring decisions (Marlowe et al., 1996). Additionally, gender interacts will sexual orientation to influence hiring decisions (Horvath & Ryan, 2003). There is also evidence that intersectional identities can diminish bias. For instance, Pedulla (2014) found that gay black men were perceived as less threatening than straight black men, thus are more likely to have success in hiring processes.

Discrimination in the context of personnel selection is a problem in the workplace. It occurs in multiple forms and across a variety of personnel selection devices. This problem is especially apparent in the demographics of race and gender, though other demographics are affected as well.

Though previous research on gay and lesbian discrimination in personnel selection has been somewhat inconclusive, evidence suggests that such discrimination at least occurs in some contexts. However, more research is needed to better understand the contexts in which such discrimination is likely to occur. It is also possible that issues of identity intersectionality account for some forms of personnel selection-based discrimination such that it is not membership in one stigmatized category that leads to such forms of discrimination, but is the result of multiple stigmatized categories and the extent to which individuals are perceived to fit into those categories.

CHAPTER 3 GAY AND LESBIAN DISCRIMINATION

Though sexual orientation research has existed for decades, it has received more attention from organizational researchers in recent years due to increased public awareness (Anteby & Anderson, 2014). Gay men and lesbian women face hardships both inside and outside of work (Ragins, 2004). One such hardship revolves around how they manage their identity. Like other identities such as religion, sexual orientation is an invisible identity (Chaudoir & Quinn, 2010). As such, gay men and lesbian women face a difficult decision as to whether or not they should reveal their sexual orientation to others (Ragins, 2004; Ragins, 2008). If a gay employee chooses not to disclose, they may suffer a variety of negative psychological outcomes including decreased trust in others, psychological well-being, and physical health (Chaudoir & Fisher, 2010).

If a gay employee chooses to disclose, they potentially face discrimination (Ragins, 2004; Ragins, 2008). Despite opinions of sexual minorities improving over previous decades, sexual orientation-related bias has not completely disappeared (Burke et al., 2015; Herek, 2000). However, there is substantial variability in the degree to which people are biased, with bias levels varying from not biased to extremely biased (Rutledge, Siebert, Siebert, & Chonody, 2012). Furthermore, like other stigmatized identities, sexual minorities are experiencing increasing levels of subtle or aversive discrimination resulting from implicitly biased perpetrators (Burke et al., 2015; Hoffarth & Hodson, 2014). Like other groups, the effects on non-heterosexual identities are compounded when examining other identities in intersectional combination. For instance, the negative outcomes of being a sexual minority are influenced by other demographics such as age, race, and gender (Bowleg, 2013; Cronin & King, 2010; Diamond & Butterworth, 2008; Foglia & Fredriksen-Goldsen, 2014; Horvath & Ryan, 2003).

Many explanations have been proposed to explain why negative attitudes exist towards sexual minorities. Some of these explanations stem from homophobia, a genuine fear of people who are gay (Callender, 2015; Herek, 2000; Ragins, 2004). For example, fear of contagion stemming from a belief that sexual minorities have a sexual transmitted disease may lead to prejudice and, in turn discrimination (Callender, 2015). Other explanations align with the heterosexist explanation wherein biased individuals hold beliefs that straight individuals are in some way superior to sexual minorities (Callender, 2015; Herek, 2000; Ragins, 2004). For example, cultural barriers including norms and public policy prohibiting same sex relationships may create beliefs that a non-heterosexual identity is in some way wrong (Callender, 2015; Herek, 2000). Additionally, people who believe that being gay is a choice, or results from nurture, are more likely to hold antigay biases (Callender, 2015). Some people even hold mixed or unclear attitudes toward sexual minorities, which can also make them more likely to discriminate (Hoffarth & Hodson, 2014). A final explanation stems from research on gender bias. Gay men and lesbian women may be stigmatized because they often do not fit into existing mental schemas for men and women (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009; Capezza, 2007). Furthermore, gay men and lesbian women are more likely to experience discrimination when behaving in ways that coincide with stereotypes (Lehavot & Lambert, 2007).

Regardless of why discrimination occurs against gay men and lesbian women, evidence suggests a variety of negative outcomes of experienced discrimination. Most notably, sexual orientation discrimination results in increased stress (Meyer, 2003; Meyer, 1995; Ragins, Cornwell, & Miller, 2003; Ragins, Singh, & Cornwell, 2007). Some of this increased stress stems from issues related to the decision of sexual minorities to disclose or hide their stigmatized identity (Ragins et al., 2003; Ragins et al., 2007). Discrimination against sexual minorities has also been

associated with increased negative emotions and emotional distress (Almeida, Johnson, Corliss, Molnar, & Azrael, 2009; Conlin et al., 2019). Sexual orientation discrimination has also been related to both life satisfaction and quality of life (Conlin et al., 2019; Mays & Cochran, 2001). Experiences of sexual orientation discrimination are associated with more negative mental health outcomes including mental disorders and decreased psychological well-being (Almeida, Johnson, Corliss, Molnar, & Azrael, 2009; Meyer, 2003; Szymanski, 2006). Such outcomes appear to be more common in states that do not have laws protecting sexual orientation (Hatzenbuehler, Mclaughlin, Keyes, & Hasin, 2010). There are also behavioral outcomes of sexual orientation discrimination. For instance, there are differences in career trajectories between straight and gay individuals (Ragins, 2004). Beyond the effects of career trajectory differences, pay discrepancies exist between straight and gay individuals (Drydakis, 2015; Ragins, 2004). Sexual minorities are also more likely to have substance abuse problems as a result of discrimination (English, Rendina, & Parsons, 2018; Hatzenbuehler et al., 2010; Mccabe, Bostwick, Hughes, West, & Boyd, 2010).

Gay and lesbian workplace discrimination.

As the previous sections suggest, gay men and lesbian women experience discrimination, and this discrimination leads to fear of disclosure of their stigmatized identity. The workplace shows similar parallels in that gay men and lesbian women experience discrimination in a variety of forms (King & Cortina, 2010; Ragins, 2004). In fact, as high as 66% of sexual minorities have experienced some form of discrimination at work, and at least a third have experienced severe mistreatment, as a result of their sexual orientation (Ragins, 2004). Due to fear of discrimination, sexual minorities have to make decisions about whether or not to disclose their sexual identity to coworkers, supervisors, and the organization as a whole (Bell et al., 2011; Ragins, 2004; Ragins et al., 2007). This occurs, in part, because of varying laws regarding sexual orientation

discrimination (Barron & Hebl, 2013). In the United States, sexual orientation is not protected by federal legislation. Though some states have passed such legislation, sexual minorities are largely unprotected in many states. However, as discussed previously, societal norms and legal policy in states that protect sexual orientation are decreasing public forms of discrimination (Barron & Hebl, 2013). Some forms of discrimination, including subtle forms of discrimination, are still a persistent problem in organizations (Barron & Hebl, 2013; Burke et al., 2015; Hebl et al., 2002; Ragins, 2004).

Like other protected groups, sexual minorities could conceivably experience formal forms of discrimination and interpersonal forms of discrimination in the workplace (Hebl et al., 2002; King & Cortina, 2010). Evidence strongly supports the presence of interpersonal forms of discrimination against sexual minorities (Eliason, Dibble, & Robertson, 2011; Hebl et al., 2002; Ryan & Wessel, 2012). However, evidence on formal forms of discrimination is a little less clear as some research has found support for formal discrimination against sexual minorities, while other studies have found no support (Bauermeister et al., 2014; Hebl et al., 2002; Horvath & Ryan, 2003; Van Hoye & Lievens, 2003).

There are many ways in which interpersonal discrimination can occur. How interpersonal discrimination occurs is partially affected by how a gay employee manages their identity at work (Lynch & Rodell, 2018). Often interpersonal discrimination can come in the form of negative interpersonal behaviors such as harassment, derogatory comments, or disrespect (Eliason, Dibble, et al., 2011; Ryan & Wessel, 2012). Derogatory comments can be problematic regardless of whether the individual has revealed their sexual orientation identity. Often, derogatory comments come in the form of gay jokes or slurs which potentially lead to negative outcomes for an out individual because they are likely the target of the comment, and can affect those that are not out

because they hear a joke that is still offensive to a portion of their identity (Eliason, Dibble, et al., 2011; Velez & Moradi, 2012). Furthermore, the presence of derogatory comments may create a climate of hostility toward gay men and lesbian women, which could increase prejudice and discrimination toward the group (Goodman, Schell, Alexander, & Eidelman, 2008). Interpersonal discrimination can also take the form of exclusion such as not inviting a gay or lesbian individual to social events, ignoring them, or refusing to help them build their social network (Ragins & Cornwell, 2001; Ragins, 2004). Interpersonal discrimination can also take the form of an organizational-level phenomenon as an LGBT unsupportive culture may make gay men and lesbian women less comfortable disclosing their identity or prevent them from getting close to coworkers (Ragins et al., 2007; Velez & Moradi, 2012; Walker & Melton, 2015)

Evidence of interpersonal mistreatment exists in organizational procedures, measurable behaviors, self-reports of stigmatized sexual minorities, and other perceptual measures of the stigmatized group. As previously stated, laws do not always protect the sexual minorities from being discriminated against (Barron & Hebl, 2013). As such, discrimination exists in society against sexual minorities. Likewise, many organizations do not have policies protecting sexual minorities from being discriminated against, allowing for mistreatment of coworkers with non-heterosexual orientations (Eliason, DeJoseph, Dibble, Deevey, Chinn, 2011; Ragins & Cornwell, 2001). Objective behaviors have also supported the proposition that interpersonal sexual discrimination occurs. For example, Hebl et al. (2002) found that interactions within a business tend to be shorter when individuals are perceived as being non-heterosexual. Self-reports of discrimination further suggest that interpersonal discrimination exists. (Eliason, DeJoseph et al., 2011) found that sexual minorities report increased levels of harassment in the workplace, and Hebl et al. (2002) found that sexual minorities are more likely to report feelings of being

stigmatized. Perceptions of stigmatization are usually higher when heterosexuals make up a larger percentage of the company (Ragins & Cornwell, 2001).

Additional evidence for interpersonal discrimination can be found in outcomes. Gay men and lesbian women are more likely to experience a variety of affective and cognitive outcomes (Eliason, Dejoseph, et al., 2011; Ragins, 2004). For instance, gay men and lesbian women that perceive discrimination are likely to have diminished positive job attitudes including organizational commitment, job satisfaction, organizational self-esteem, and career commitment (Lyons, Brenner, & Fassinger, 2005; Ragins & Cornwell, 2001; Ragins, 2004; Velez & Moradi, 2012; Walker & Melton, 2015). They are also more likely to experience negative mental health symptoms such as depression, distress, and decreased general mental health (Ragins, 2004; Smith & Ingram, 2004; Szymanski, 2006). They are more likely to feel like they don't fit with the company (Lyons et al., 2005; Velez & Moradi, 2012). For those that have not revealed their sexual orientation, they frequently feel negative emotions such as fear at the thought of their sexual identity being revealed (Ragins, 2004; Ragins et al., 2007; Walker & Melton, 2015). As a result of many of these other negative outcomes, they are more likely to turnover (Ragins & Cornwell, 2001; Velez & Moradi, 2012; Walker & Melton, 2015)

To date, federal laws in the United States do not protect against discrimination by sexual orientation. Even though some state and local laws do prohibit formal discrimination, formal discrimination against gay men and lesbian women is believed to occur (Barron & Hebl, 2013; Bauermeister et al., 2014; Ng et al., 2012). Bauermeister et al. (2014) suggests that the prevalence rates may be higher as they found that at least 15 percent of sexual minorities report that they had experienced at least one instance of formal discrimination in the previous year. Eliason et al. (2011) found similar rates when examining percentages of gay men and lesbian women that had requests

for job referrals refused by heterosexual colleagues. However, the existence of formal sexual orientation discrimination has been challenged by others who suggest that sexual orientation discrimination in the workplace usually occurs in only interpersonal forms (Hebl et al., 2002). Therefore, the existing literature on formal sexual orientation discrimination provided contradictory findings.

Evidence that refutes the existence of formal sexual orientation discrimination comes from research on personnel selection and recruitment. One such study examined interpersonal and formal discrimination in the context of applying for jobs. Hebl et al. (2002) had individuals walk into stores and ask for job applications while wearing either an LGBT supportive or neutral hat. Confederates acting as job applicants reported increased hostility when wearing the LGBT supportive hat. However, no differences emerged in whether or not they were allowed to apply for the job. While the study supports the notion of interpersonal discrimination against gay men and lesbian women, it suggests that formal discrimination is less likely to occur. Similar studies have examined the effects of sexual orientation on personnel selection decisions. Van Hoye and Lievens (2003) examined the effects of sexual orientation and applicant quality on hirability ratings, and found no evidence of bias based on sexual orientation.

Though some evidence points toward the proposition that formal discrimination does not affect gay men and lesbian women, other evidence suggests that formal discrimination against gay men and lesbian women does occur. Formal discrimination against gay men and lesbian women comes in many forms. Sexual minorities may experience unfair termination (Bauermeister et al., 2014). They may also be unfairly denied promotion or salary increases (Bauermeister et al., 2014). They may also face additional barriers to promotion (Mcphail et al., 2016). In addition, sexual minorities are less likely to receive referrals from coworkers than heterosexual individuals

(Eliason, Dibble, et al., 2011). There is also consistent evidence that salary gaps exist between heterosexual and non-heterosexual employees (Badgett, 1995; Drydakis, 2015; Ng et al., 2012). In fact, sexual minorities often expect to receive lower pay than heterosexuals in parallel positions, especially when laws do not prohibit such practices (Burn, 2018; Ng et al., 2012). Though the relationship between sexual orientation and formal organizational processes such as personnel selection may be complex, there is also evidence that sexual discrimination does exist in such processes (Bauermeister et al., 2014). Sexual orientation may affect perceptions of position suitability and perceived fit (Barrantes & Eaton, 2018; Lim, Nam, & Trau, 2018). For instance, Horvath & Ryan (2003) found that straight males were evaluated more favorably than sexual minorities. However, straight females were evaluated even less favorably. It is important, however, to consider that only one job type was examined in this study. This may confound the study as job type may influence the likelihood of sexual orientation discrimination (Drydakis, 2015; Pichler, Varma, & Bruce, 2010). Additionally, the gender of the applicant and evaluator may also influence sexual orientation bias in personnel selection (Cunningham et al., 2010; Pichler et al., 2010). Sexual orientation bias may extend to performance appraisal contexts as well (Bauermeister et al., 2014). However little research has examined the topic of performance appraisal bias against sexual minorities specifically. In one experimental study, Goodman et al. (2008) manipulated leaders of fictional groups to be perceived as either gay or straight and had participants evaluate them. Overall, gay leaders were evaluated less favorably than straight leaders. However, the difference was only significant if the evaluation followed an anti-gay remark. There are a few possible explanations for this. One explanation is that the derogatory remark decreased the strength of social norms that typically stop discrimination. A second explanation would be that the derogatory remark primed the gay stereotype in some way.

Though most research examining the existence of formal sexual orientation discrimination has found evidence that such discrimination exists, there are some studies that suggest that the opposite is true. More research may be needed to thoroughly understand why formal sexual orientation discrimination exists in some contexts but not others. One plausible explanation can be found in the prevalence rates reported for formal discrimination. Previous studies suggest that sexual orientation discrimination occurs in about 10-15 percent of sexual minorities each year (Bauermeister et al., 2014; Eliason, Dibble, et al., 2011). If this is the case, perhaps the existing studies refuting formal sexual orientation discrimination were capturing populations that are less likely to discriminate. However, another possible explanation may be found in research on gender bias and formal discrimination through Role Congruity Theory.

CHAPTER 4 ROLE CONGRUITY

With inconclusive and inconsistent findings in research on formal discrimination against gay men and lesbian women, more research is needed that examines why bias exists against them in some contexts and not in others. One explanation for these inconsistent findings may come from Role Congruity Theory, a theory frequently used to explain gender bias and discrimination (Eagly & Karau, 2002).

Research suggests that gender inequality in the workplace exists for numerous reasons. One explanation that, in part, accounts for disparities is that, in many societies, men and women are raised differently. For example, subtle differences in how men and women are treated societally and interpersonally influence career and educational interests and goals (Eccles, Jacobs, & Harold, 1990). In addition to upbringing, other societal norms may also influence career decision differences of men and women. For instance, American gender stereotypes place more responsibility for family related roles on women than men (Bowles & Mcginn, 2008; Powell, Greenhaus, & Powell, 2010). A final explanation is that gender bias influences expectations about men and women which in turn affect organizational processes and career trajectories (Bowles & Mcginn, 2008; Cleveland et al., 2000). One of the most discussed theories for explaining gender related biases is known as Role Congruity Theory. A central premise of Role Congruity Theory is that stereotypes about various demographic identities create differences in expectations across those identities (Cleveland et al., 2000; Eagly & Karau, 2002). Put another way, our identities generate norms for behavior and expectations for characteristics. In the case of gender, males are expected to behave in certain ways, be good at certain things, and possess certain traits, while females are expected to behave in different ways, be good at different things, and possess different sets of traits (Heilman & Wallen, 2010). Important components of this theory include gender-role

stereotypes, which are societal expectations about what roles and behaviors are considered appropriate for men versus women, and gender-trait stereotypes, which are beliefs that men possess certain traits that are less common in women (Cleveland et al., 2000). These gender-role stereotypes and gender-trait stereotypes lead to expectations that men will show agentic qualities such as assertive, achievement-oriented behaviors and women will show communal qualities such as sensitive service-oriented behaviors (Cleveland et al., 2000; Heilman & Wallen, 2010; Rudman & Glick, 1999). When individuals show qualities that contradict these expectations, this leads to a perceived misfit between expected behavior and observed behavior. (Heilman & Wallen, 2010; Maurer & Taylor, 1994). This perceived misfit often results in discrimination against the individual (Heilman & Eagly, 2008; Heilman & Wallen, 2010). Men and women both face role related gender stereotyping. Like women, men are often feel pressured to behave in ways that are consistent with gender-trait expectations, and face discrimination when failing to conform to those expectations (Heilman & Wallen, 2010). Furthermore, if a man's masculinity is threatened, he may attempt to prove his masculinity by intentionally acting in a macho manner (Ely & Meyerson, 2008). However, while men do face discrimination when they are perceived as acting feminine, women potentially face discrimination regardless of how they behave (Leskinen, Rabelo, & Cortina, 2015). When women are seen as agentic, they violate expected gender roles, but women seen as communal are often perceived as weak.

Gender role stereotyping results in a variety of negative outcomes for the target. Like other stigmatized groups, formal and interpersonal discrimination can occur against individuals based on their gender (Cleveland et al., 2000). For instance, in rating-based personnel decisions, leniency bias occurs when a rater is exceptionally merciful in their judgment, while severity bias occurs when a rater is exceptionally unforgiving in their judgment (Cascio & Aguinis, 2011). Gender

discrimination may occur due to disparities in personnel outcomes as men are generally more likely to experience leniency while women are more likely to experience severity in personnel practices (Cascio & Aguinis, 2011; Cleveland et al., 2000; Eagly & Karau, 2002; Heilman et al., 2004; Rudman & Glick, 1999). However, in line with Role Congruity Theory, men may also experience such outcomes when working in or pursuing a job that is perceived as incongruent with gender expectations (Heilman & Wallen, 2010). An additional outcome of gender role stereotyping and discrimination is that women often struggle to advance in organizations (Eagly & Carli, 2007; Eagly & Karau, 2002; Heilman, 2001). Traditional notions of this struggle to advance suggest that compassion related stereotypes are often mistaken for weakness (Heilman, 2001). As a result, women often hit a metaphorical glass ceiling, where they can see the where their career trajectory could go, but are prevented from achieving their full potential (Eagly & Karau, 2002; Heilman, 2001). However, as Eagly & Carli (2007) point out, the increasing subtlety of gender bias has altered the barriers to women's advancement. Instead of a glass ceiling, barriers now resemble a labyrinth, where women face significant challenges to advance rather than facing outright prevention of advancement (Eagly & Carli, 2007).

Gender role-based discrimination can take on many forms, including traditionally studied organizational processes. For example, gender has been shown to influence personnel selection outcomes (Atwater & Van Fleet, 1997; Rudman & Glick, 1999). Agentic and communal trait expectations are a likely explanation for why gender influences personnel selection outcomes (Rudman & Glick, 1999). Likewise, gender role expectations have been linked to performance appraisal and leadership evaluations (Cleveland et al., 2000; Eagly & Karau, 2002; Heilman et al., 2004; Landy & Farr, 1980). However, gender role-based discrimination can potentially occur in other ways as well. Bias can exist in negotiation settings, leading to pay and other employment

term differences between males and females (Kulik & Olekalns, 2012). Gender role expectations to family responsibilities create differences in how work-family conflict is viewed for men and women (Butler & Skattebo, 2004). Furthermore, due to role expectation differences between men and women, women are often denied equal networking opportunities, denied access to important resources, and given less support than men (Cleveland et al., 2000; Ibarra et al., 2010).

One additional way in which Role Congruity Theory may influence gender stereotyping is through job title stereotyping. This refers to instances where an individual believes that a particular job may be appropriate for some demographic groups, but not for others. Job stereotyping could potentially exist toward a variety of stigmatized groups. However, research on this phenomenon has traditionally been examined in the gender stereotyping literature. Eccles et al. (1990) suggested that gender stereotypes about the appropriateness of jobs are developed early in the lifespan. Early life influences of parents, teachers, and other children create differing expectations for what men and women are capable of doing, in turn affecting what jobs men and women are most likely to pursue.

One commonly studied job stereotype relates to leadership and managerial positions. Managerial jobs are often stereotyped as masculine (Cabrera, Sauer, & Thomas-Hunt, 2009; Eagly & Karau, 2002; Koenig, Eagly, Mitchell, & Ristikari, 2011). This is partially evidenced by the fact that women have difficulty advancing into managerial positions, and, when reaching such positions, are often evaluated less positively than men (Eagly & Carli, 2007; Eagly & Karau, 2002). Still, there are some exceptions. Women are more likely to be accepted as leaders when working in fields that are stereotyped as more feminine (Cabrera et al., 2009; Koenig et al., 2011). Koenig et al. (2011) found that masculinity is perceived as less important for fields such as education. Cabrera et al. (2009) found that teams led by female leaders in stereotypically feminine

fields have elevated expectations for team performance. However, reported expectations for leader success were unaffected by perceived gender-field congruence. Collectively, these studies suggest that leaders are generally stereotyped as masculine, but that women may be more accepted as leaders in fields that are traditionally feminine.

Furthermore, job stereotyping extends beyond leadership and managerial positions. Eccles et al. (1990) suggested that stereotypes about which jobs are appropriate for men and women are introduced early in life. These stereotypes not only affect career decision differences between men and women, but also add to the formulation of gender stereotypes that lead to biases in perceived job fit. Though much of the research on gender discrimination has focused on discrimination against women, job stereotyping may also affect men. For instance, male nurses are often stigmatized because they are perceived as working in a job that is incongruent with gender stereotypes (Clow, Ricciardelli, & Bartfay, 2015). In a promotion simulation experiment, Atwater and Van Fleet (1997) found that, regardless of organizational level, men were favored for stereotypically masculine jobs while women were favored for stereotypically feminine jobs. Specifically, men were favored in fields such as electrical engineering, sports medicine, accounting, and architecture, while women were favored in fields such as social work, social sciences, and nursing. In a meta-analytic examination of this effect in performance appraisal contexts, Davison and Burke (2000) found a similar pattern of results where men were favored in stereotypically masculine jobs (such as life insurance agent, auto sales worker, or heavy machinery sales) and women were favored in stereotypically feminine jobs (such as secretary or day care director). This has also been supported in personnel selection contexts. Glick et al. (1988) found that job type moderated the effects of gender discrimination in personnel selection contexts.

The extant research on job stereotyping provides evidence that some jobs are deemed appropriate by society for only certain individuals. However, explanations for this phenomenon are grounded in Role Congruity Theory (Cleveland et al., 2000; Eagly & Karau, 2002). Two factors consistently seem to explain why some jobs are perceived by society to fit one gender (Cleveland et al., 2000). The first of these is behavioral expectations. Some behaviors are considered inappropriate for men, while others are considered inappropriate for women. For example, men in leadership positions often face social penalties when asking for help because they are expected to be directive and decisive (Rosette, Mueller, & Lebel, 2015). Even being successful at a gender inconsistent behavior can lead to negative consequences. Men who perform stereotypically feminine tasks (or perform tasks in stereotypically feminine ways) are often seen as weak and are given less respect, while women performing in stereotypically masculine tasks face interpersonal mistreatment and ostracism (Heilman & Wallen, 2010). The second factor, gender trait expectations, may be the predominant mechanism in job stereotyping. As discussed above, gender stereotypes often lead to expectations that men should be agentic and women should be communal (Cleveland et al., 2000; Ely & Meyerson, 2008). If certain jobs require agentic or communal traits, gender stereotypes might make it seem that one gender is more appropriate for a certain job than the other gender. In other words, gender stereotypes about the traits that men and women have may affect others' expectations for what jobs men and women are likely to be successful at.

The previous paragraphs show that gender is a powerful identity that influences expected social roles and traits. More broadly, the implications of Role Congruity Theory suggest that our identities can affect societal expectations for behaviors, traits, and careers. While Role Congruity Theory has traditionally been used to explain why gender discrimination exists, Role Congruity Theory could potentially be applied to other stigmatized identities including sexual orientation.

One reason that role congruity should be examined in sexual orientation discrimination is that there are a lot of similarities between sexual discrimination and gender discrimination. Most notably, stereotypes of gay men and lesbian women align very closely to stereotypes of men and women. Stereotypical behavioral and trait norms for women are very similar to stereotypical behavioral and trait norms for gay men. The same can be said for men and lesbian women. Stereotypical behavioral and trait norms for men are very similar to stereotypical behavioral and trait norms for lesbians. In other words, role expectations for gay men and lesbian women may be reversed from heterosexual individuals. Because of the similarities between these two demographic characteristics, Role Congruity Theory may extend to sexual orientation.

A second reason role congruity should be examined in sexual orientation discrimination is that perceived role congruity/incongruity could exist within other identities. Though little research on Role Congruity Theory exists outside of gender, Role Congruity Theory has been shown to extend to age (Krings, Sczesny, & Kluge, 2011). There is also some evidence that identities that align with gender can lead to role congruity/incongruity perceptions. Koenig and Eagly (2014) found that individuals with feminized mental illnesses (e.g., depression) were perceived as more qualified for communal roles and less qualified for agentic roles. The opposite was found for individuals with masculinized mental illnesses (e.g., alcoholism), who were only perceived as qualified for agentic roles. Though this is just one example of non-gender related role congruity bias, it suggests that role congruity may extend to other demographics aside from gender.

A final reason that role congruity should be examined in sexual orientation discrimination is that more research is needed on complex identity combinations. From research on identity intersectionality, researchers have traditionally ignored the intersection of multiple identities, particularly in the discrimination literature where individuals that hold multiple stigmatized

identities often get ignored (Purdie-Vaughns & Eibach, 2008; Sawyer et al., 2013). The term intersectional invisibility has come to refer to this tendency to forget about the differing experiences of these complex identity stigmatized groups (Purdie-Vaughns & Eibach, 2008). Furthermore, Sawyer et al. (2013) called for more research on intersectional identities in the discrimination literature. By examining role congruity of sexual orientation and gender simultaneously, important information on the differing experiences of gay men and lesbian women may be captured more effectively.

So far, it is established that discrimination exists in both formal and interpersonal forms within organizations. It is also established that gay men and lesbian women suffer a variety of negative outcomes inside and outside of work because of stereotyping and discrimination. However, it is unclear whether formal discrimination exists against gay men and lesbian women in the workplace. Finally, it is also established that social identities can dictate what is perceived as appropriate behaviors and traits. However, amongst these points, several questions remain unaddressed. Particularly, more research is needed to identify when and under what circumstances formal sexual orientation discrimination exists in the workplace. More research is also needed to determine whether Role Congruity Theory and job stereotyping may explain the lack of main effects for sexual orientation discrimination in formal organizational processes such as personnel selection.

CHAPTER 5 PRESENT STUDY AND HYPOTHESES

The findings from the extant literature on formal discrimination against sexual minorities in the workplace are mixed. Therefore, further research is warranted to better understand the factors that affect sexual orientation discrimination in the workplace. Consequently, examining potential moderators of sexual orientation discrimination may explain why some studies find evidence of formal sexual orientation discrimination while others find no evidence of formal sexual orientation. The goal of the present study is to explore such factors in the context of personnel selection, where most of the research on formal sexual orientation discrimination has been done previously. As most behaviors are the result of an interaction of individual and situational forces, it is important to examine both as causes of behavior (Lewin, 1951). More specifically, this study will examine how characteristics of the applicant, characteristics of the rater, and characteristics of the job can collectively influence the likelihood that sexual orientation discrimination is likely to occur in personnel selection.

Intersectional effects of sexual orientation and other demographic identities have been previously found to influence personnel selection disparities (Pedulla, 2014). Specifically, Horvath and Ryan (2003) found that gay men and lesbian women are more favored than straight women, but less favored than straight men in gender neutral jobs. Because gay and lesbian employees are stereotyped inversely of straight employees, they may be seen as someone who doesn't fit squarely into preexisting notions of man or woman (Blashill & Powlishta, 2009; Kite & Deaux, 1987). This complexity of identities for non-heterosexual individuals may create confusion in the mind of a biased hiring manager, as. Because of this, gay men and lesbian women may be stereotyped as being less masculine than straight men are and less feminine than straight women are. Therefore,

it is expected that the findings of Horvath and Ryan (2003) will be replicated as sexual orientation and gender will interact.

H1: Gender will moderate the effects of sexual orientation on personnel selection discrimination such that gay men and lesbian women will receive lower hirability ratings than straight men and higher hirability ratings than straight women. (See Table 1.)

Despite previous research suggesting an interaction between sexual orientation and gender, the generalizability of Horvath and Ryan (2003) may be relatively limited. This limitation stems from the job that was used. The job that was used in the study (technical writer) is a gender-neutral job. While their design allowed them to isolate the combined effects of gender and sexual orientation, the findings of Horvath and Ryan (2003) may only apply to personnel selection in jobs that are gender neutral. Role Congruity Theory provides a framework for why job type may affect sexual orientation discrimination. As previously discussed, Role Congruity Theory suggests that society places different expectations on men and women, and that these expectations lead to roles (including jobs) that are seen as appropriate for one gender but not both (Davison & Burke, 2000; Eagly & Karau, 2002). Because of the similarities between gender stereotypes and sexual orientation stereotypes, the mechanisms that enable gender discrimination to occur are likely similar to those that are influential in sexual orientation discrimination, including job stereotyping. Therefore, someone that believes the stereotypes of gay men and lesbian women to be accurate would likely expect gay men to struggle in positions stereotyped as masculine while expecting lesbians to struggle in positions stereotyped as feminine.

H2: There will be a three-way interaction between sexual orientation, gender, and job type on hireability ratings. (See Table 2.)

H2A: Lesbian women applying for feminine jobs will be rated lower than gay men or straight women.

H2B: Gay men applying for masculine jobs will be rated lower than lesbian women or straight men.

This study also attempts to explore the mental mechanisms that explain discrimination against gay men and lesbian women. As previously stated, one common mental mechanism associated with discrimination is stereotyping (Talaska et al., 2008). Stereotypes can affect perceptions of ability, motivation, or fit (Atwater & Van Fleet, 1997; Eagly & Karau, 2002; Glick et al., 1988; Nosek, Banaji, & Greenwald, 2002; Reyna, 2000). Thus, if rater endorses sexual orientation stereotypes, interaction with a sexual minority will activate a stereotype about the individual's ability, motivation, and/or fit. If the activated stereotype suggests a misfit between the applicant and the job, the rater will be less likely to rate them fairly. As a result, the applicant will be disadvantaged in the hiring process. Therefore, endorsement of stereotypes about gay men and lesbian women should be associated with disparate ratings, especially if the applicant is applying for jobs that are seen as incongruent with existing stereotypes.

H3A: Lesbian women will be rated lower when the rater endorses stereotypes about the abilities of lesbian women.

H3B: Gay men will be rated lower when the rater endorses stereotypes about the abilities of gay men.

H4A: For female applicants, there will be a three-way interaction between sexual orientation, job type, and stereotype endorsement such that lesbian women will be rated lower than straight women, but only when lesbian women are applying for feminine positions and are being rated by a rater that endorses sexual orientation stereotypes. (See Table 3.)

H4B: For male applicants, there will be a three-way interaction between sexual orientation, job type, and stereotype endorsement such that gay men will be rated lower than straight men, but only when gay men are applying for masculine positions and are being rated by a rater that endorses sexual orientation stereotypes. (See Table 3.)

An additional factor that may influence evaluations is prejudice. An attitude is prejudiced if it is guided primarily by emotions (Allport, 1954). Like stereotyping, prejudice has been linked to discrimination (Meyer, 2003; Talaska et al., 2008). Previous research on anti-gay discrimination supports that this notion extends to anti-gay prejudice. Prejudice against sexual minorities stems from a variety of sources. These explanations include feelings of fear, superiority, and disgust (Callender, 2015; Herek, 2000; Ragins, 2004). Prejudice, regardless of the cause, has been shown to be one of the best predictors of discrimination (Talaska et al., 2008). Therefore, someone who is prejudiced against sexual minorities would likely find avenues to treat sexual minorities differentially. It is expected that people with strong prejudiced views should be more likely to discriminate against sexual minorities.

H5A: Lesbian women will be rated lower when the rater endorses anti-gay prejudice.

H5B: Gay men will be rated lower when the rater endorses anti-gay prejudice.

Though individuals with prejudice may or may not acknowledge stereotypes about gay men and lesbian women, their decision to discriminate may not be guided by the stereotypes. As prejudice, an emotionally charged feeling toward a group of people, is such an important predictor of discrimination, one could expect a prejudiced rater to discriminate against gay men and lesbian women regardless of job type or gender. However, strong societal norms now exist against discrimination, which often forces discrimination to be subtle (Cortina, 2008; Dovidio & Gaertner, 2000; Hoffarth & Hodson, 2014; Sue et al., 2007). While a rater who is prejudiced against sexual

minorities may desire to discriminate against a gay man or lesbian woman in any context, societal norms could force them to attempt to hide their prejudice (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1977; Dovidio & Gaertner, 2000). Someone who is prejudiced may only discriminate when they believed they could rationalize their actions to others. In the case of personnel selection, this could occur in the form of identifying traits or characteristics that they expect others to believe that the applicants hold. In other words, they may attempt to discriminate through known stereotypes about applicants. Therefore, like stereotyping, emotional prejudice against gay men and lesbian women should result in increased discrimination, and this may be more likely to occur when the job is perceived by societal stereotypes to be a misfit for the applicant.

However, because anti-gay prejudice does not necessarily result from stereotyping alone, individuals that hold anti-gay prejudice should be inclined to have consistently negative feelings toward sexual minorities. In other words, someone that holds prejudice against sexual minorities should dislike gay men and lesbian women evenly, regardless of what job they are applying for. Thus, if their rating is guided by prejudice, they should discriminate against gay men and lesbian women no matter which job they apply for.

In sum, prejudiced raters may overtly discriminate regardless of job type, or they may be inclined to only discriminate when they believe that they can get away with it. Thus, discrimination against gay men and lesbian women by individuals who are prejudiced against them may occur evenly across gender regardless of job type, but it may also follow the same pattern as discrimination resulting from stereotyping. Therefore, the following research question is proposed. RQ1: Will the effect of anti-gay prejudice on applicant ratings be moderated by job type and sexual orientation?

CHAPTER 6 METHOD

Pilot Test

The manipulations used in this study were pilot tested to ensure that the stimuli were noticeable enough to potentially have biasing effects. To assess the feasibility of the proposed manipulations, 40 undergraduates participated in this pilot test. Participants read a sample job application and identified the name, gender, and sexual orientation of the applicant. The participant also identified the name of the applicant's spouse and job that the applicant was applying for. Participants identified 85% of the job application elements correctly. More specifically, 92.5% of participants identified the name and gender of the applicant correctly, while 75% identified the applicant's sexual orientation correctly. Additionally, 80% of participants identified the spouse's name correctly, while 85% identified the job correctly. Previous research on sorting tasks identifies 75% agreement as an acceptable cutoff for sorting tasks such as this one (Greenberg, 1986). Therefore, the pilot test supported the adequacy of the application manipulations.

Participants

Participants were working adults in the United States recruited through a Qualtrics panel. For the present study and given a small to medium effect size, a power analysis conducted in GPower suggested that approximately 580 participants should complete the study. In all, 1961 participants began the study. Responses were screened by Qualtrics for attention using the attention check implemented in the pilot study. Participants that failed the attention check, did not complete the study from start to finish, or did not indicate that they were employed were prevented from finishing the study, and were removed from the pool by Qualtrics. Because of the Qualtrics screening mechanisms, 1392 participants were removed from final data set. Of the participants that failed the attention check, 386 answered the gender question incorrectly, and 362 failed to

identify the correct applicant name. Of the participants that failed the manipulation check, 479 missed the question on sexual orientation, and 414 failed to identify the name of the applicant's spouse. In addition, 337 failed to identify the job that the applicant was applying for.

This left 569 participants of useful data. Sex breakdown of the participant pool was 80.3% female and 19.7% male. The gender breakdown was 80.7% women, 19.2% men, and 0.1% other. Approximately 1% of the respondents were transgender. In terms of sexual orientation, 85.9% of respondents identified as straight. Most respondents were Caucasian (83.1%), and the majority identified as an ethnicity other than Hispanic or Middle Eastern (91.9%). In terms of religion, 66.3% of respondents were Christian, 22.2% of respondents were non-religious or unaffiliated, and 11.7% belonged to religions other than Christianity. Participants were 39.4 years old on average, and worked an average of 40.5 hours per week. (For a full breakdown of demographics, see Table 4.)

Design

The present study utilized a three-way factorial manipulation (2x2x2). The first manipulation was gender of the applicant by adjusting the name on the application. The first name of the applicant was either James (for a male applicant) or Mary (for a female applicant). These two names were chosen because they are not usually considered gender neutral names. The second manipulation was sexual orientation. The applicant was either identified as gay or straight. Because such information is not usually directly reported in applications, multiple subtle manipulations similar to those used in Horvath and Ryan (2003) served as manipulations of sexual orientation. First, the resume contained a volunteer position at either an LGBTQ support center or a marital counseling center. Second, the questionnaire, letter of recommendation, and cover letter contained references to the individual's spouse. In these references, the name of the partner was manipulated

as Sarah (for heterosexual men and lesbian women) or Paul (for heterosexual women and gay men). Like the names chosen for the applicants, names of the spouse were chosen because they are usually considered to not be gender neutral. The third manipulation was job type. Cross and Bagilhole (2002) examined differences percentages of males and females working in various fields. Results suggested that the field of nursing is predominantly composed of women while technical fields such as IT and computer engineering are predominantly composed of men. Furthermore, a study of child stereotypes jobs found that nursing is stereotyped as being appropriate for women and computer technology jobs are stereotyped as being appropriate for men (Sinclair & Carlsson, 2013). Therefore, nurse was used as a feminine job and computer technician was used as a masculine job.

Procedure

Participants were instructed to take on the role of a hiring manager for a fictional organization. Then, participants were randomly assigned to one of the conditions, and presented with a completed application packet from a fictional applicant that included a cover letter, resume, an open-ended questionnaire, and a letter of recommendation. After reading through the application, participants rated the extent to which they believed that the person was a hirable candidate. Applications were identical across participants with the exception of the manipulations discussed above. (For a sample application, see Appendix A.) After rating the applicant's hirability, participants completed a measure of sexual orientation stereotyping. To avoid contaminating responses on the sexual orientation stereotyping measure, the questions for this measure were mixed with questions from unrelated measures on conservatism and conspiracy beliefs. Finally, participants completed a measure of sexual orientation prejudice.

Measures

Manipulation check quiz. The manipulation check quiz contained 5 questions that assess whether the participant paid attention to the applicant's characteristics and the application job type when completing the study. First, participants were asked to identify the name, gender, and sexual orientation of the person they rated. Then they were asked to identify the applicant's spouse and the job that the applicant was applying for.

Hirability. Hirability was assessed using a scale identical to the scale from Horvath and Ryan (2003). Participants assessed the hirability of the applicant on a 100-point scale with the following anchors: 0 = extremely unqualified, 25 = moderately unqualified, 50 = barely qualified, 75 = moderately qualified, and 100 = extremely qualified.

Sexual Orientation Stereotyping. Stereotyping was assessed using 10 modified items from the beliefs dimension of the gender-role scale developed by Prasad and Baron (1995). The items in this scale originally assessed gender stereotypes. The items were modified to assess differing stereotypes of sexual minorities compared to straight individuals. For example, "Boys are naturally better at most sports" was changed to "Straight men are better at most sports compared to gay men." These items were used to assess role stereotyping of sexual minorities. Participants rated the extent to which they agree with the premise of each statement by responding to a five-point Likert scale ranging from *strongly disagree* to *strongly agree*. Scores were computed by averaging responses across items. Reliability for this scale was 0.97.

Sexual Orientation Prejudice. Prejudice toward ratee was originally measured using 5 items from the 14 item LGBT contact measure developed by Holland, Matthews, and Schott (2013). The specific items selected from this scale were chosen because they appeared to assess negative attitudes towards interactions with sexual minorities. The 5 items selected correspond to those that only address sexual orientation prejudice and are the most covert items of the scale.

Participants rated the extent that they agree that each statement describes them. An example item was "I would feel nervous being in a group of gay men." Participants responded to a five-point Likert scale ranging from *strongly disagree* to *strongly agree*. However, an initial analysis of the five items indicated an exceptionally unreliable measure. To improve the reliability, only 3 of the 5 items were used for the final measure. Scores were computed by averaging responses across items. Despite attempts to use an adequately reliable measure, no combination of items yielded a measure above the recommended value of 0.70. The final alpha these 3 specific items was 0.57.

Religiosity. Religiosity was measured using the 4 item Brief Multidimensional Measure of Religiousness/Spirituality created by the Fetzer Institute (2003). This measure examines the role that religion/spiritual beliefs have in a person's life. A sample item is "I believe in a God that watches over me." Participants responded on a 5 point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 6 (strongly agree). Reliability for this measure was 0.93.

Demographics. Participants reported their own religious preference, sex, gender, race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, age, and average hours worked a week.

(Items for these measures can be found in Appendix C.)

CHAPTER 7 ANALYSES

Through examination of z-scores and visual inspection of the scatter plot for the study criterion, three outliers were detected and removed from subsequent analyses. Visual inspection of the scatter plot also indicated the possibility of non-normality in the criterion variable. A Shapiro-Wilk test conducted on the criterion variable was significant, indicating significant non-normality in the variable (0.90, p<0.001). The variable was subsequently evaluated for skew and kurtosis. Analyses revealed significant skew of -1.26 (SE= 0.10) and kurtosis of 2.32 (SE=0.21). Given the significant non-normality, data for the criterion measure was transformed using the moderate negative skew procedure outlined in Tabachnick and Fidell (2013). The transformation reduced skew and kurtosis below statistically significant levels. The resulting measure was negatively correlated with the original criterion measure, so the resulting measure was multiplied by -1 and linearly transformed. This resulted in the final transformed measure being negatively correlated with the original transformation at -1.00, and positively correlated with the original criterion at 0.96. In all subsequent analyses, this transformed measure was used as the criterion.

With the exception of the two main effects presented in hypotheses 3 and 5, all hypotheses were analyzed using factorial analysis of variance (ANOVA). Hypothesis 1 predicted an interaction between sexual orientation and gender such that straight men were rated highest and straight women were rated lowest. To examine hypothesis 1, a factorial ANOVA was run examining the combined effects of applicant gender and sexual orientation. The main effect of applicant gender on hirability rating was not significant, F(1, 562) = 0.05, p=0.82. The main effect of applicant sexual orientation on hirability rating was also not significant, F(1, 562) = 0.90, p=0.34. However, the interaction term was significant, F(1, 562) = 3.86, p<0.05. Pairwise comparisons indicated a significant difference between the hirability ratings of straight men and

gay men. Hirability ratings for straight men (M=5.05, SD= 1.82) were higher than those of gay men (M=4.63, SD=1.80). Pairwise comparisons indicated no significant difference between straight and lesbian women. Since there was a significant interaction between gender and sexual orientation on hirability ratings, hypothesis 1 is partially supported. However, contrary to the hypothesis and in contrast to the findings of Horvath and Ryan (2003), ratings of straight women were not found to be rated lower than gay men.

Hypothesis 2 predicted an interaction among sexual orientation, gender, and job type such gay men would be rated lower than straight men or lesbian women for masculine jobs and lesbian women would be rated lower than straight women or gay men for feminine jobs. To examine hypothesis 2, a factorial ANOVA was run examining the combined effects of applicant gender, sexual orientation, and job type. The results of the ANOVA yielded a non-significant 3-way effect, F(1, 558) = 1.80, p=0.18. Thus, hypothesis 2 was not supported. Though the interactions were non-significant, the interactive effects were further interpreted to determine if results were trending in the hypothesized directions. Despite the differences being non-significant, mean rating patterns largely aligned with hypothesized directions. Gay men were rated lowest when applying for masculine jobs, and lesbian women were rated lowest when applying for feminine jobs. Surprisingly, straight women were rated higher than straight men for masculine jobs, and straight men were rated higher than straight women for feminine jobs. The highest ratings overall came from men applying for feminine jobs.

Hypothesis 3 proposed a main effect of sexual orientation stereotyping on hirability ratings for gay applicants. Specifically, it was expected that lesbian women and gay men would be rated lower when the rater endorses gay and lesbian stereotypes. To examine hypothesis 3, two regressions were run examining the effects of sexual orientation stereotyping on ratings of gay and

lesbian applicants. For hypothesis 3, only participants that rated gay and lesbian applicants were included in the analyses.

Before testing hypothesis 3, normality was assessed for the stereotyping variable. A Shapiro-Wilk test conducted on the stereotyping variable was significant, indicating significant non-normality in the variable (0.72, p<0.001). The variable was subsequently evaluated for skew and kurtosis. Analyses revealed significant skew of 1.33 (SE= 0.15) and kurtosis of 0.77 (SE=0.29). Given the significant non-normality, data for the stereotyping measure was transformed using the substantial positive skew procedure outlined in Tabachnick and Fidell (2013). The transformation reduced skew and kurtosis. In all subsequent analyses involving stereotyping, the transformed measure was used.

For hypothesis 3A, a regression was run to assess the relationship between stereotyping and hirability ratings for participants that rated lesbian women. For participants that rated lesbian women, the relationship between stereotyping and hirability ratings was non-significant, F(1,141) = 0.01, p=0.91. Thus, hypothesis 3A was not supported. For hypothesis 3B, a regression was run to assess the relationship between stereotyping and hirability ratings for participants that rated gay men. For participants that rated gay men, the relationship between stereotyping and hirability ratings was significant, $r^2 = 0.05$, F(1,139) = 6.79, p=0.01. Ratings for gay men were significantly lower when the rater endorsed gay and lesbian stereotypes. This provides support for hypothesis 3B, and some support for hypothesis 3 as a whole.

To test hypothesis four, two factorial ANOVAs were run examining the combined effects of applicant sexual orientation, job type, and evaluator stereotype endorsement. The analyses were split with one ANOVA assessing this interaction in male applicants and one ANOVA assessing this interaction in female applicants. Hypothesis 4A predicted an interaction among stereotype

endorsement, sexual orientation, and job type for participants that rated female applicants. Specifically, it was expected that lesbian women would be rated lower than straight women when being rated by a participant that endorses sexual orientation stereotypes, particularly when the job application is for a feminine job. A factorial ANOVA was run examining the combined effects of applicant sexual orientation, rater stereotyping, and job type. The results of the ANOVA yielded a non-significant 3-way effect, F(2, 276) = 0.32, p=0.74. Thus, hypothesis 4A was not supported. Hypothesis 4B predicted an interaction among stereotype endorsement, sexual orientation, and job type for participants that rated male applicants. Specifically, it was expected that gay men would be rated lower than straight men when being rated by a participant that endorses sexual orientation stereotypes, particularly when the job application is for a masculine job. A factorial ANOVA was run examining the combined effects of applicant sexual orientation, rater stereotyping, and job type. The results of the ANOVA yielded a non-significant 3-way effect, F(1, 274) = 1.37, p=0.24. Thus, hypothesis 4B was not supported. However, a significant 2-way interaction was found between applicant sexual orientation and stereotyping, F(1, 274) = 7.12, p=0.01. Pairwise comparisons indicated a significant difference between the hirability ratings of straight men and gay men among raters with high stereotype endorsement. For high stereotyping raters, hirability ratings for straight men (M=5.36, SD= 0.26) were significantly higher than those of gay men (M=3.93, SD=0.32).

Though the 3-way interactions were non-significant, the interactive effects were further interpreted to determine if results were trending in the hypothesized directions. To interpret the interactive effects for hypothesis 4, three groups were created using the standard deviation of the stereotype measure. Participants showing stereotyping more than 1 standard deviation above the mean were labeled high endorsement. Participants showing stereotyping within one standard

deviation of the mean were labeled average endorsement. Despite the reduction in skew from transformation, the measure still contained some skew because 38% of participants showed no evidence of stereotyping. As a result, no participants fell below the value of 1 standard deviation from the mean. The 38% that demonstrated no stereotyping were relabeled low endorsement. For hypothesis 4A, high stereotyping raters rated lesbian women lower when the applicant was applying for a traditionally feminine job. In contrast, raters showing low to medium stereotyping rated straight women applying for feminine jobs the lowest. This is consistent with the projected direction of the hypothesis. For hypothesis 4B, high stereotyping raters rated gay applicants lower than straight applicants regardless of job type. This is in contrast with the hypothesized direction, which projected that gay men applying for traditionally masculine jobs would be rated lowest.

Hypothesis 5 proposed a main effect of sexual orientation prejudice on hirability ratings for gay applicants. Specifically, it was expected that lesbian women and gay men would be rated lower when the rater endorses gay and lesbian prejudice. To examine hypothesis 5, two regressions were run examining the effects of sexual orientation prejudice on ratings of gay and lesbian applicants. Like hypothesis 3, only participants that rated gay and lesbian applicants were included in the analyses for this hypothesis.

Before testing hypothesis 5, normality was assessed for the prejudice measure. A Shapiro-Wilk test conducted on the criterion variable was significant, indicating significant non-normality in the variable (0.84, p<0.001). The variable was subsequently evaluated for skew and kurtosis. Analyses revealed significant skew of 1.21 (SE= 0.15) and kurtosis of 1.42 (SE=0.29). Given the significant non-normality, data for the criterion measure was transformed using the severe negative skew procedure outlined in Tabachnick and Fidell (2013). The transformation reduced skew and kurtosis. The resulting measure was negatively correlated with the original prejudice measure, so

the resulting measure was multiplied by -1 and linearly transformed. This resulted in the final transformed measure being negatively correlated with the original transformation at -1.00, and positively correlated with the original prejudice measure at 0.93. In all subsequent analyses involving prejudice, the transformed measure was used.

For hypothesis 5A, a regression was run to assess the relationship between prejudice and hirability ratings for participants that rated lesbian women. For participants that rated lesbian women, the relationship between prejudice and hirability ratings was non-significant, F(1,141) = 0.07, p=0.80. Thus, hypothesis 5A was not supported. For hypothesis 5B, a regression was run to assess the relationship between prejudice and hirability ratings for participants that rated gay men. For participants that rated gay men, the relationship between prejudice and hirability ratings was non-significant, F(1,139) = 3.46, p=0.07. Thus hypothesis 5B was not supported. Given the combined results of hypothesis 5A and hypothesis 5B, hypothesis 5 was not supported.

To test the research question, two factorial ANOVAs were run examining the combined effects of applicant sexual orientation, job type, and evaluator prejudice. The analyses were split with one ANOVA assessing this interaction in male applicants and one ANOVA assessing this interaction in female applicants. With the participants that rated female applicants, a factorial ANOVA was run examining the combined effects of applicant sexual orientation, rater prejudice, and job type. The results of the ANOVA yielded a non-significant 3-way effect, F(1, 276) = 0.14, p=0.71. With the participants that rated male applicants, a factorial ANOVA was also run examining the combined effects of applicant sexual orientation, rater prejudice, and job type. The results of the ANOVA yielded a non-significant 3-way effect, F(1, 274) = 0.14, p=0.71. The results of these analyses suggest that prejudiced raters were not significantly influenced by job stereotypes.

Though the interactions were non-significant, the interactive effects were further interpreted to determine if results were trending in the hypothesized directions. To interpret the interactive effects, three groups were created using the standard deviation of the prejudice measure. Participants showing prejudice more than 1 standard deviation above the mean were labeled high endorsement. Participants showing prejudice more than 1 standard deviation below the mean were labeled low endorsement. Participants showing prejudice within one standard deviation of the mean were labeled average endorsement. For female applicants, high prejudice raters rated lesbian women applying for masculine jobs lowest. For low prejudice raters, straight women applying for masculine jobs were rated lowest. For medium prejudice raters, straight women applying for feminine jobs were rated lowest. Male applicants showed different patterns. For low and medium prejudice raters, gay men applying for masculine positions were rated lowest. For high prejudice applicants, gay men applying for feminine jobs were rated lowest.

Due to the unexpected pattern of findings, follow up analyses were conducted to examine potential confounding factors on the findings of this study. First, rater race and ethnicity could be a factor. Some previous research suggests that disadvantaged and stigmatized groups see other stigmatized groups as competition, potentially making disadvantaged racial and ethnic minorities more likely to discriminate against sexual minority applicants (Craig & Richeson, 2014). However, other research suggests that disadvantaged groups may find solidarity in other disadvantaged groups (Cortland, Craig, Shapiro, Richeson, Neel, & Goldstein, 2017). Regardless of which theory holds in the present study, it suggests that race and/or ethnicity may influence sexual orientation bias. Given that more than 80% of the sample was Caucasian, race may have potentially influenced the results of the study. However, follow up analyses yielded no evidence of rating disparity by race or ethnicity.

Rater gender was also examined for interactive effects with some of the key study variables. Like race/ethnicity, stigmas exist around gender, with discrimination against women being especially common (Eagly & Carli, 2007; Landy & Farr, 1980). So, because women are also stigmatized, perhaps women may be more inclined to show leniency. Additionally, there are similarities between gender stereotypes and sexual orientation stereotypes. So, women may be even more likely to support sexual minority applicants because they both face similar barriers to employment. On the other hand, being a traditionally stigmatized group, women may appraise sexual minorities as a group in competition with themselves, thus making them more likely to discrimination (Craig & Richeson, 2014). In this study, stereotyping was higher for men than for women, t(140) = -3.54, p = .001. Prejudice was also higher for men compared to women, t(564) =-3.27, p=.001. However, an examination of ratings of sexual minority applicants revealed no significant differences by rater gender. Similarly, no relationship was found between rater gender and ratings of gay men. However, a significant main effect was found between gender and ratings of lesbian women applicants, t(141) = -2.13, p = .04. Male raters (M=5.63, SD=1.32) rated lesbian applicants higher than female raters (M=4.82, SD=1.70). However, additional analyses revealed no significant difference between straight women rated by women. and lesbian women rated by women. Furthermore, there was a significant 2-way interaction between applicant gender and rater gender, with women rating male applicants higher overall compared to female applicants, F(1,(276)=4.35, p=.04. Therefore, collectively, the results suggest that rater gender did not confound the study.

Another demographic identity that may have influenced the results of the study is age. Previous research has found that sexual orientation attitudes may differ by age (Garretson, 2015). In this study's sample, 56% of participants were under 40, and the average age of the sample was

39.4 years. Given that the sample skews young, perhaps participant age influenced the results of the study. Age is significantly correlated with stereotyping (r=0.08, p<0.05). Age is also significantly correlated with prejudice (r=0.20, p<.001). Age did not correlate with ratings of sexual minority applicants. However, age positively correlated with ratings of lesbian women applicants (r=0.20, p=.02). Ratings negatively correlated with ratings of gay male applicants (r=0.25, p=.003). The same pattern of results did not hold for straight applicants as age did not predict ratings for straight male or female applicants. There were no interactive effects between age and job type. Given the extant results, age may have had some influence on the results of the present study.

A final identity that may impact sexual orientation discrimination is religion. Many of the world's religions contain negative appraisals of non-hetero identities and have rules prohibiting same-sex relationships. Thus, religion and religiosity may impact sexual orientation discrimination. Religion significantly predicted stereotyping, F(6, 493)=3.66, p=.001. Stereotype endorsement was significantly higher for Evangelical Christians compared to those given by Mainline Christians, Atheists, Agnostics, and those that identified as Spiritual but Not Religious. Religion significantly predicted prejudice, F(6, 493)=4.91, p<.001. Prejudice was highest among Evangelical Christians and lowest among Atheists and Agnostics. However, subsequent analyses did not find evidence of a link between religious affiliation and hirability discrimination. Like religion, religiosity did correlate with stereotyping (r=0.24, p<.001) and prejudice (r=0.26, p<.001). However, no subsequent analyses indicated that religiosity influenced ratings for sexual minority applicants in either job type. Therefore, it is unlikely that religion or religiosity influenced the findings of this study.

Applicant sexual orientation may also have been a factor in the results since such a large percentage of the sample identified as straight. However, the sample did not have enough sexual minorities to examine this premise.

CHAPTER 8 DISCUSSION

The goal of this paper was to examine how and in what situations sexual orientation can create biasing effects within formal workplace processes. First, Role Congruity Theory was used as a framework to examine the sexual orientation bias. The importance of job type was examined as a possible moderator to explain why studies on sexual orientation bias in personnel selection have previously shown mixed results. Specifically, the premise of this study was that sexual orientation bias in employee personnel selection may exist through job characteristic stereotypes like those that perpetuate gender bias. However, the present study found no evidence to support this notion as job type did not affect ratings differentially among straight and gay men and women. In other words, gay men and lesbian women were not more likely to experience discrimination in personnel selection when applying for masculine and feminine jobs respectively.

Second, the moderating roles of both cognitive and emotional processes were examined as potential moderators on the perpetration of sexual orientation discrimination. In terms of cognitive moderators, it was proposed that stereotyping would influence personnel selection bias against sexual minorities by interacting with job type. Specifically, it was proposed that gay men would be most disadvantaged in applying for masculine jobs and lesbian women would be most disadvantaged in applying for feminine jobs when the rater endorsed sexual orientation stereotypes. The premise that job type and stereotyping collectively influence rating disparities was not supported by the study presented in this paper.

In terms of emotional processes, it was proposed that prejudice would have a direct effect on sexual orientation discrimination. However, previous research suggested conflicting hypotheses regarding prejudice's interaction with job type. Some research suggested that job type could moderate the effects of sexual orientation because those with prejudice may only choose to discriminate when they believe that stereotypes will allow them to get away with it. On the other hand, prejudice has been previously found to have a strong, direct relationship with discrimination. The results of the study presented in this paper found no relationship between sexual orientation prejudice and rating disparities. Furthermore, job type did not have a moderating effect on this relationship. In other words, prejudice did not predict discrimination in any circumstance within this study.

Despite the main premises being unsupported by the study, there were some significant findings in the present study. First, the combination of applicant sexual orientation and gender did appear to affect ratings. Specifically, straight men were rated significantly higher than gay men, while no difference existed in ratings between straight women and lesbian women. Thus, the results suggest that gay men may be the most disadvantaged in personnel selection contexts. Additionally, sexual orientation stereotype endorsement had an impact on hirability ratings. Gay men were rated lower when the rater endorsed gay stereotypes. The same pattern did not hold for any other group (straight men, straight women, or lesbian women) further suggesting that gay men are the most likely to experience personnel selection discrimination. Surprisingly, job type did not moderate the effects of stereotype endorsement. Instead, endorsement of gay stereotypes led to lower ratings of gay men regardless of which job they were applying for. In sum, the results of the study presented in this paper suggest that gay men may have the largest disadvantage in hiring processes.

A surprising finding in this study is that a disparity existed between ratings of straight men and gay men that did not exist between straight women and lesbian women. There are many potential reasons why this may have occurred. However, the most plausible explanation is that the gender disparity in the sample may have influenced the results. The sample was predominantly

female. Perhaps the women in the study were showing favoritism by exhibiting less bias toward their own ingroup. In other words, women participants may have overlooked sexual orientation for lesbian women because they had the same gender identity. If that is the case, it would suggest that a more male dominant sample could show a substantially different pattern of results.

Theoretical Implications

Though the main premise of the study was not supported, there are still some implications for theory. First, this study provides evidence that sexual orientation discrimination does exist in formal processes such as personnel selection. Specifically, this study provides evidence that gay men may be disadvantaged in hiring. Furthermore, Ruggs et al. (2013) argued that many identities are underrepresented in diversity and discrimination research. Therefore, as evidence of sexual orientation discrimination was found, the study's findings support the call by Ruggs et al. (2013) to investigate less explored stigmatized identities by showing that other demographic biases can affect work outcomes. Thus, this study suggests the importance of studying discrimination against traditionally less researched marginalized groups like sexual minorities.

Second, the present study suggests that key moderators are important in explaining inconsistent findings regarding sexual orientation discrimination. This study specifically identified applicant gender and rater stereotyping endorsement as key moderators of sexual orientation discrimination. This suggests the importance of continuing to search for moderating factors that influence discrimination against various demographic groups, including sexual minorities.

Related to the previous implication, this study provides additional evidence for the importance of studying intersectional identities. The present study found no main effect of sexual orientation on ratings. However, when examined with the moderating effect of applicant gender,

evidence of discrimination was found, which replicates the findings of Horvath and Ryan (2003). As such, discrimination theory and research needs to continue to implement a multiple identity approach to the study of both diversity and discrimination. This also suggests that other identities may also have moderating effects on the presence and extremity of sexual orientation discrimination.

This study also provided some evidence for the importance of examining cognitive factors that predict discrimination. Stereotype endorsement was an influential factor in rating disparities between straight and gay applicants. However, prejudice did not significantly impact ratings in this study. Nevertheless, the results of the present study suggest the importance of accounting for cognitive factors like stereotyping in discrimination studies. Though evidence of sexual orientation-based stereotyping and prejudice was found, it is important to note that rates of stereotype endorsement and prejudice were relatively low. However, the present study lacks sufficient data to determine whether the results reflect societal levels of sexual orientation-based stereotyping and prejudice, as it is possible that the purpose of the study was too salient to participants. (See "Limitations" section for more detail.) Thus, low levels of stereotyping and prejudice may be influenced by socially desirable responding.

Finally, the present study casts some doubt on the transferability of Role Congruity Theory to the context of sexual orientation discrimination. Because job type was not an influential factor, the study results suggest that disadvantages experienced by sexual minorities do not result from perceptions of job misfit. However, given some of the sample characteristics (see limitations section for more detail), it is possible that rater characteristics may be an additional moderator in the transferability of Role Congruity Theory. More research is needed to further explore this explanation for the results of this study.

Practical Implications

There are also potential implications for practice. First, the results would suggest that sexual orientation is another characteristic that needs careful attention like race and gender have gotten in the past. In the context of personnel selection, sexual orientation can be a biasing factor. Organizational leaders need to be aware of biases than can exist, and they need to ensure that biased employees are not put in positions to make key organizational decisions. Raters and evaluators need to be employees who are less likely to show bias, including bias against sexual minorities. To avoid bias contaminating other organizational processes (e.g., performance appraisal, subordinate development), it is also important that organizations place unbiased employees that can manage diverse employees into managerial and leadership roles.

While using unbiased raters and managers is ideal, such biases can be difficult to detect. So, it is essential that organizations take proactive measures to decrease discrimination against applicants and employees, including sexual minorities. Training sessions and bias interventions should be implemented to try to decrease the influence of sexual orientation related stereotypes and prejudices on personnel decisions. For example, structured free recall interventions have met success in decreasing racial and weight based biases (Baltes, Bauer, & Frensch, 2007; Rudolph, Baltes, Zhdanova, Clark, & Bal, 2012). Similar interventions could perhaps be used to decrease the influence of stereotypes, including sexual orientation stereotypes, in personnel selection decisions.

Relatedly, measures should be taken to remove potential biases from personnel processes altogether. The results lend further support to the importance of using objectivity in personnel selection activities. Highhouse (2008) posits that subjectivity in hiring decisions, which allows for bias to affect outcomes, is a rampant problem, particularly in interviews. To avoid opportunities

for bias to affect hiring outcomes, organizations should implement structured and validated personnel selection systems instead of relying on subjective, unanchored assessments (Melchers, Lienhardt, von Aarburg, & Kleinmann, 2011; Schmidt & Hunter, 1998).

Limitations and Future Directions

Though this study extends our understanding of a variety of issues in organizational science, there are still limitations on the findings. First, there are some methodological limitations to the study. The present study is experimental and used a fictitious organization. In fact, the low levels of prejudice and stereotyping could be an indicator that the study was not realistic enough. In other words, participants may not have been able to adequately put themselves in the mindset of a manager making a hiring decision. In the future, researchers should attempt to examine this phenomenon in real organizations. It is also possible that the jobs that were chosen were not effective enough manipulations. On one hand, the positions (particularly the computer position) may not have had strong enough stereotypes associated with it to be seen as masculine. However, the positions (particularly the nurse position) also may have been so stereotypically gendered that it made the purpose of the study too obvious. Future studies should consider using a wider array of positions.

There were also some measurement issues with the present study. Most notably, most of the measures, including the ratings, stereotyping, and prejudice measures, were highly skewed. Although, it is unclear whether this skew was a result of a legitimately skewed distribution versus socially desirable responding. In addition, the prejudice measure demonstrated very low reliability even after the number of items was reduced from 5 to 3. No decipherable explanation was identified for the low reliability. The items selected were specifically picked because they assessed the emotion-based thought patterns that are indicative of prejudice. The items that were used only

made up a subset of the original scale, which may have contributed to the poor reliability. However, most measures related to sexual orientation bias either assess discriminatory behaviors directly or assess sexual orientation stereotyping. Virtually no well validated survey measures exist that specifically assess this emotion-based prejudice construct, which made selecting adequate items for this construct difficult. Future researchers should examine innovative ways to assess this emotion-based sexual orientation prejudice more reliably.

There were also some limitations with the sample used. First, a small number of initial respondents correctly completed the manipulation check. Thus, only about a quarter of those who signed up for the study completed it. There may have been important variance in the participants that did not correctly complete the manipulation check (e.g., more reliance on mental shortcuts) that may more completely explain the research questions examined in this study. The best way to address this issue is to conduct research in actual organizations. In addition to the manipulation check issue, the sample was more than 80% female. Given that women experience higher rates of discrimination, this sample may have exhibited less stereotyping and prejudice than the general population. Unfortunately, this study lacked sufficient power to thoroughly examine these hypotheses with rater gender as a moderator. In the future, researchers should aim for a more gender diverse sample and should consider looking at rater gender as a possible moderator.

In addition to the methodological, measurement, and sample considerations, there are a few theoretical limitations to this study. First, this study focuses on the evaluator/rater perspective. More research is needed to completely understand how the experiences of discrimination in personnel practices affect gay men and lesbian applicants/ratees. While the study presented in this paper does examine intersectional identity, only a select set of identities were used. Future research should look at other potential intersectional identities such as age, race, social class, weight, etc.

Future research should look deeper into cognitive explanations for why discrimination occurs against certain groups such as the LGBT community. Additionally, one major limitation of this study is that it only examines these predictors in the context of a personnel selection scenario. There are other contexts such as leader evaluations, promotion, performance appraisal, etc. that may or may not show similar patterns of bias. Finally, the present study only examines demographic characteristics of the applicant, and does not examine demographics of the rater. Future research studies should examine how characteristic matches/mismatches between the rater and applicant can influence hirability ratings.

Conclusion

In conclusion, previous research suggested that most discrimination against gay men and lesbian women is informal (Hebl et al., 2002). This paper challenges those findings by presenting evidence formal discrimination against gay employees does exist. However, it is influenced by additional factors such as other demographic characteristics of the ratee/applicant and views of the rater/evaluator. Therefore, it is important for organizations to carefully consider methods of decreasing such bias in organizational processes such as personnel selection.

APPENDIX A

Sample Applications:

Straight Male Masculine Job

Lesbian Female Feminine Job

Application for
Computer Technician
at
Cisco Health Systems

James Parker

(285) 412-0387

James.Parker@gmail.com

Dear Hiring Manager,

I am a recent college graduate with a background in both a technical and healthcare environment. I have a passion for working in this industry and a strong drive to learn. Because of my versatile background, I believe I am a great candidate for this position.

I became interested in your company after my wife Sarah was hospitalized in one of your hospitals with a serious illness. I was impressed with the service of your staff and the professionalism of your doctors. I knew at that point that I wanted to work for this company.

For a little background on myself, I completed a BA in Computer Science. During my time as an undergraduate, I volunteered at the West University Marital Counseling Center. I also volunteered in the front office of the Computer Science Department.

For the past few months, I have worked as an office assistant in a medical center where I have processed patient paperwork, maintained medicine administration logs, and provided customer service to incoming patients and their families. Prior to working in the medical center, I served as a technical customer service assistant for a local software company. As an employee of this company, I answered phone calls from people who purchased our software and helped them to troubleshoot problems that they were having with their software.

Combining the learned and practiced skills I acquired from these jobs, I believe I a lot of valuable experience that would translate well to this job. Furthermore, as a result of my background in the medical industry, I believe I'd have an advantage over other applicants in learning how to thrive in your company.

I believe that I would be a good fit for this position because of my passion for this industry, my educational background, my experience, and my strong drive to learn. If you would like to contact me, please call me or email me using the information above.

Sincerely,

James Parker

Cisco Health Systems

Application for Computer Technician

	1.	Are you eligible to work in the United States for any employer?
Yes		
	2.	Have you ever been convicted of or plead guilty to any offense under the law? If so please explain.
No		
	3.	Have you ever been fired, discharged, or forced to resign for behavioral or performance issues? If so, please explain.
No		
	4.	Are you willing to be employed for this company full time?
Yes		
	5.	Are you willing to travel? If so, please indicate a percentage.
Yes	. Up	o to 50%.
	6.	Please describe your educational background.

I have a Bachelor's degree in Computer Science from Crawford College, a small liberal arts college. I graduated with a 3.3 grade point average.

7. Why do you want to work for this company?

Two years ago, my wife Sarah became extremely ill, and had to be hospitalized. This company not only helped her to recover, but also took great care of us, providing excellent customer service. I am so grateful for what the company did for us that I wanted to give something back to the company, and also wanted to help the company continue to thrive.

8. What skills do you have that you believe would make you successful in the job you are applying for?

I have extensive knowledge of computer engineering and Information Technology operations. I am very organized and take good notes. I am detail oriented. I am excellent at managing my time, and do so using calendars and to-do lists. I have a devotion to customer service and try to put those whom I'm serving first. I also learn very quickly.

9. Describe your career goals.

I eventually hope to obtain a supervisory position in my field where I can make the practice of computer science better within organizations. Ideally, I hope to use this position to improve my skills as a computer technician to prepare me a for a supervisory role in the future.

James Parker

(285) 412-0387

James.Parker@gmail.com

Experience

Saraville Medical Center:

Office Assistant, July 2016-Present

o Answered phones; Filed paperwork; Answered emails; Other general office duties

Emergesoft, Inc.:

Technical Customer Service Assistant, June 2014- June 2016

o Answered phones; Helped clients troubleshoot technical problems; Provided customer service

West University Marital Counseling Center:

Volunteer, January 2012- July 2016

o Helped with the promotion and advocacy of the center to the general public

Crawford University

Part Time Office Assistant, December 2011 – May 2014

Answered student questions; Filed paperwork; Made copies; Assisted the full time staff as needed

Target:

Checkout Clerk, January 2010 - May 2011

o Operated checkout registers; Provided customer service; Other duties as needed

Education

- Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science (2016)
 - Crawford College
 - Graduated Cum Laude with a 3.3 GPA
 - Minor in Philosophy
- High School Diploma (2011)
 - o Brandon W. Reed High School
 - o Graduated with a 3.6 GPA

To whom it may concern,

My name is Alex West. I was James Parker's supervisor at Emergesoft, Inc. I supervised James for the entire time that they worked for our company.

I first got to know James through his wife, Sarah, about five years ago. What first caught my attention was James's hard working attitude and inquisitive nature. After knowing them for a few years, I offered to hire them to work in one of our customer service positions, where they continued to impress me with their attitude and ability to learn quickly.

I strongly recommend James Parker for this position because I think they will be an asset to your organization. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call me at 285-392-3949.

Best,

Alex West

Customer Service Manager

Emergesoft, Inc.

Application for Nurse

at

Cisco Health Systems

Mary Parker

(285) 412-0387

Mary.Parker@gmail.com

Dear Hiring Manager,

I am a recent college graduate with a background in both a technical and healthcare environment. I have a passion for working in this industry and a strong drive to learn. Because of my versatile background, I believe I am a great candidate for this position.

I became interested in your company after my wife Sarah was hospitalized in one of your hospitals with a serious illness. I was impressed with the service of your staff and the professionalism of your doctors. I knew at that point that I wanted to work for this company.

For a little background on myself, I completed a BA in nursing. During my time as an undergraduate, I volunteered at the West University Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Support Center. I also volunteered in the front office of the Nursing Department.

For the past few months, I have worked as an office assistant in a medical center where I have processed patient paperwork, maintained medicine administration logs, and provided customer service to incoming patients and their families. Prior to working in the medical center, I served as a technical customer service assistant for a local software company. As an employee of this company, I answered phone calls from people who purchased our software and helped them to troubleshoot problems that they were having with their software.

Combining the learned and practiced skills I acquired from these jobs, I believe I a lot of valuable experience that would translate well to this job. Furthermore, as a result of my background in the medical industry, I believe I'd have an advantage over other applicants in learning how to thrive in your company.

I believe that I would be a good fit for this position because of my passion for this industry, my educational background, my experience, and my strong drive to learn. If you would like to contact me, please call me or email me using the information above.

Sincerely,

Mary Parker

Cisco Health Systems

Application for Nurse

	10. Are you eligible to work in the United States for any employer?
Yes	
	11. Have you ever been convicted of or plead guilty to any offense under the law? If so, please explain.
No	
	12. Have you ever been fired, discharged, or forced to resign for behavioral or performance issues? If so, please explain.
No	
	13. Are you willing to be employed for this company full time?
Yes	
	14. Are you willing to travel? If so, please indicate a percentage.
Yes	. Up to 50%.
	15. Please describe your educational background.

I have a Bachelor's degree in Nursing from Crawford College, a small liberal arts college. I graduated with a 3.3 grade point average.

16. Why do you want to work for this company?

Two years ago, my wife Sarah became extremely ill, and had to be hospitalized. This company not only helped her to recover, but also took great care of us, providing excellent customer service. I am so grateful for what the company did for us that I wanted to give something back to the company, and also wanted to help the company continue to thrive.

17. What skills do you have that you believe would make you successful in the job you are applying for?

I have extensive knowledge of best practices in nursing and medical company operations. I am very organized and take good notes. I am detail oriented. I am excellent at managing my time, and do so using calendars and to-do lists. I have a devotion to customer service and try to put those whom I'm serving first. I also learn very quickly.

18. Describe your career goals.

I eventually hope to obtain a supervisory position in my field where I can make the practice of nursing better within organizations. Ideally, I hope to use this position to improve my skills as a nurse to prepare me a for a supervisory role in the future.

Mary Parker

(285) 412-0387

Mary.Parker@gmail.com

Experience

Saraville Medical Center:

Office Assistant, July 2016-Present

o Answered phones; Filed paperwork; Answered emails; Other general office duties

Emergesoft, Inc.:

Technical Customer Service Assistant, June 2014- June 2016

o Answered phones; Helped clients troubleshoot technical problems; Provided customer service

West University Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Support Center:

Volunteer, January 2012- July 2016

o Helped with the promotion and advocacy of the center to the general public

Crawford University

Part Time Office Assistant, December 2011 - May 2014

o Answered student questions; Filed paperwork; Made copies; Assisted the full time staff as needed

Target:

Checkout Clerk, January 2010 - May 2011

o Operated checkout registers; Provided customer service; Other duties as needed

Education

- Bachelor of Arts in Nursing (2016)
 - o Crawford College
 - Graduated Cum Laude with a 3.3 GPA
 - Minor in Philosophy
- High School Diploma (2011)
 - o Brandon W. Reed High School
 - o Graduated with a 3.6 GPA

76

To whom it may concern,

My name is Alex West. I was Mary Parker's supervisor at Emergesoft, Inc. I supervised Mary for the entire time that they worked for our company.

I first got to know Mary through her wife, Sarah, about five years ago. What first caught my attention was Mary's hard working attitude and inquisitive nature. After knowing them for a few years, I offered to hire them to work in one of our customer service positions, where they continued to impress me with their attitude and ability to learn quickly.

I strongly recommend Mary Parker for this position because I think they will be an asset to your organization. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call me at 285-392-3949.

Best,

Alex West

Customer Service Manager

Emergesoft, Inc.

APPENDIX B

TABLES

Table 1

Expected hirability ratings for Hypothesis 1

	Straight	Gay
Woman	Low	Medium
Man	High	Medium

Table 2

Expected hirability ratings for Hypothesis 2

	Masculine Job	Feminine Job
Gay Woman	Medium	Low
Gay Man	Low	Medium
Straight Woman	Low	High
Straight Man	High	Low

Table 3

Expected hirability ratings for Hypothesis 4

	Masculine Job	Feminine Job	
	Low Stereotyp	e Endorsement	
Gay Woman	High	High	
Gay Man	High	High	
	High Stereotype Endorsement		
Gay Woman	Medium	Low	
Gay Man	Low	Medium	

Table 4

Demographic breakdown of sample

Male 112 19.7% African American 47 8.3 Woman 459 80.7% White 473 83.1 Man 109 19.2% 2 or More Races 16 2.8 Other 1 0.1% Other 10 1.8 Transgender Ethnicity Yes 4 0.7% Hispanic or Latino 37 6.5 No 565 99.3% Middle Eastern 9 1.6 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3		Sex		Race		
Gender Native American 9 1.6 Woman 459 80.7% White 473 83.1 Man 109 19.2% 2 or More Races 16 2.8 Other 1 0.1% Other 10 1.8 Transgender Ethnicity Yes 4 0.7% Hispanic or Latino 37 6.5 No 565 99.3% Middle Eastern 9 1.6 Sexual Orientation Neither 523 91.9 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Female	457	80.3%	Asian	14	2.5%
Woman 459 80.7% White 473 83.1 Man 109 19.2% 2 or More Races 16 2.8 Other 1 0.1% Other 10 1.8 Transgender Ethnicity Yes 4 0.7% Hispanic or Latino 37 6.5 No 565 99.3% Middle Eastern 9 1.6 Sexual Orientation Neither 523 91.9 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Male	112	19.7%	African American	47	8.3%
Man 109 19.2% 2 or More Races 16 2.8 Other 1 0.1% Other 10 1.8 Transgender Ethnicity Yes 4 0.7% Hispanic or Latino 37 6.5 No 565 99.3% Middle Eastern 9 1.6 Sexual Orientation Neither 523 91.9 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3		Gender		Native American	9	1.6%
Other 1 0.1% Other 10 1.8 Transgender Ethnicity Yes 4 0.7% Hispanic or Latino 37 6.5 No 565 99.3% Middle Eastern 9 1.6 Sexual Orientation Neither 523 91.9 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Woman	459	80.7%	White	473	83.1%
Transgender Ethnicity Yes 4 0.7% Hispanic or Latino 37 6.5 No 565 99.3% Middle Eastern 9 1.6 Sexual Orientation Neither 523 91.9 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Man	109	19.2%	2 or More Races	16	2.8%
Yes 4 0.7% Hispanic or Latino 37 6.5 No 565 99.3% Middle Eastern 9 1.6 Sexual Orientation Neither 523 91.9 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Other	1	0.1%	Other	10	1.8%
No 565 99.3% Middle Eastern 9 1.6 Sexual Orientation Neither 523 91.9 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Transgender			Ethnicity		
Sexual Orientation Neither 523 91.9 Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3		Yes 4	0.7%	Hispanic or Latino	37	6.5%
Straight 427 85.9% Religion Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3		No 565	99.3%	Middle Eastern	9	1.6%
Gay 21 4.2% Agnostic 36 6.3 Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3		Sexual Orientation	1	Neither	523	91.9%
Bisexual 34 6.8% Atheist 43 7.6 Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Straight	427	85.9%	Religion		
Other 15 3.0% Christian- Evangelical 144 25.3 Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Gay	21	4.2%	Agnostic	36	6.3%
Age Christian- Mainline 59 10.4 Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Bisexual	34	6.8%	Atheist	43	7.6%
Under 30 135 23.7% Christian- Catholic 121 21.3 30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3	Other	15	3.0%	Christian- Evangelical	144	25.3%
30-39 182 32.0% Christian- Other 53 9.3		Age		Christian- Mainline	59	10.4%
	Under 30	135	23.7%	Christian- Catholic	121	21.3%
40-49 129 22.7% Hindu 1 0.2	30-39	182	32.0%	Christian- Other	53	9.3%
	40-49	129	22.7%	Hindu	1	0.2%
50-59 87 15.3% Islamic 2 0.4	50-59	87	15.3%	Islamic	2	0.4%
60 and Over 36 6.3% Jewish 9 1.6	60 and Over	36	6.3%	Jewish	9	1.6%
Hours Worked Pagan 7 1.2		Hours Worked		Pagan	7	1.2%
Under 40 90 16.6% Spiritual, Not Religious 47 8.3	Under 40	90	16.6%	Spiritual, Not Religious	47	8.3%
40 Hours 338 62.1% Unitarian 1 0.2	40 Hours	338	62.1%	Unitarian	1	0.2%
Over 40 116 21.3% Other 46 8.1	Over 40	116	21.3%	Other	46	8.1%

Table 5 Study Correlation Matrix

Measure	Mean	Rai	nge	SD	1	2	3	4	5
1.Rating	4.86	0.00	7.72	1.75					
2.Stereotyping	0.18	0.00	0.70	0.21	0.01	(0.97)			
3.Prejudice	1.33	1.00	1.80	0.27	-	0.45**	(0.58)		
					0.05				
4.Age	39.37	19.00	75.00	11.87	-0.01	0.08*	0.20**	_	
5.Hours Worked	40.48	0.00	80.00	8.07	-0.06	0.06	-0.03	-0.02	_
*p<.05; **p<.01									

Note: Stereotyping, Prejudice, and Rating measures are transformed. Reliability is in parentheses.

Table 6

Hypothesis 1 Factorial ANOVA

Source	df	SS	MS	F	p
Applicant Gender	1	0.16	0.16	0.05	0.82
Applicant Sexual Orientation	1	2.76	2.76	0.90	0.34
Gender X Sexual Orientation	1	11.82	11.82	3.86	0.049*
Error	562	1720.42	3.06		
Total	566	15086.57			

^{*}p<.05

Table 7

Hypothesis 2 Factorial ANOVA

Source	df	SS	MS	F	p
Applicant Gender	1	0.13	0.13	0.04	0.89
Applicant Sexual Orientation	1	3.05	3.05	1.00	<0.001*
Job Type	1	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.95
Gender X Sexual Orientation	1	11.59	11.59	3.81	0.05
Gender X Job Type	1	15.15	15.15	4.97	0.03*_
Sexual Orientation X Job Type	1	0.11	0.11	0.04	0.85
Gender X Sexual Orientation X Job	1	5.47	5.47	1.80	0.18
Error	558	1699.72	3.05		
Total	566	15086.57			

^{*}p<.05

Table 8

Hypothesis 3A Regression

Source	В	SE B	β	t	P
Stereotyping	-0.10	0.81	-0.01	-0.12	0.91

^{*}p<.05

Table 9

Hypothesis 3B Regression

Source	В	SE B	β	t	P
Stereotyping	-2.00	0.77	-0.22	-2.61	0.01*

^{*}p<.05

Table 10

Hypothesis 4A Factorial ANOVA

Source	df	SS	MS	F	P
Applicant Sexual Orientation	1	5.27	5.27	1.85	0.18
Job Type	1	5.38	5.38	1.89	0.17
Stereotyping	1	2.33	2.33	0.82	0.37
Sexual Orientation X Job Type	1	2.27	2.27	0.80	0.37
Sexual Orientation X Stereotyping	1	3.41	3.41	1.20	0.28
Job Type X Stereotyping	1	0.09	0.09	0.03	0.86
Sexual Orientation X Job Type X	1	0.32	0.32	0.11	0.74
Stereotyping					
Error	276	786.43	2.85		
Total	284	7551.19			

^{*}p<.05

Table 11

Hypothesis 4B Factorial ANOVA

Source	df	SS	MS	F	p
Applicant Sexual Orientation	1	0.30	0.30	0.10	0.76-
Job Type	1	16.30	16.30	5.16	0.02*
Stereotyping	1	5.11	5.11	1.62	0.21-
Sexual Orientation X Job Type	1	10.82	10.82	3.42	0.07-
Sexual Orientation X Stereotyping	1	22.51	22.51	7.12	0.01*
Job Type X Stereotyping	1	5.32	5.32	1.68	0.20-
Sexual Orientation X Job Type X	1	4.33	4.33	1.37	0.24-
Stereotyping					
Error	274	866.42	3.16		
Total	282	7535.38			

^{*}p<.05

Table 12

Hypothesis 5A Regression

Source	В	SE B	β	t	P
Prejudice	-0.14	0.54	-0.02	-0.26	0.80

^{*}p<.05

Table 13

Hypothesis 5B Regression

Source	В	SE B	β	t	P
Prejudice	-1.04	0.56	-0.16	-1.86	0.07

^{*}p<.05

Table 14

Research Question Factorial ANOVA- 1

Source	df	SS	MS	F	p
Applicant Sexual Orientation	1	0.14	0.14	0.05	0.83
Job Type	1	0.20	0.20	0.07	0.79
Prejudice	1	0.27	0.27	0.09	0.76
Sexual Orientation X Job Type	1	0.13	0.13	0.04	0.83
Sexual Orientation X Prejudice	1	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.93
Job Type X Prejudice	1	0.95	0.95	0.33	0.57
Sexual Orientation X Job Type X	1	0.40	0.40	0.14	0.71
Prejudice					
Error	276	791.89	2.87		
Total	284	7551.19			

^{*}p<.05

Table 15

Research Question Factorial ANOVA- 2

Source	df	SS	MS	F	p
Applicant Sexual Orientation	1	1.80	1.80	0.55	0.46
Job Type	1	2.05	2.05	0.63	0.43
Prejudice	1	6.40	6.40	1.96	0.16
Sexual Orientation X Job Type	1	1.07	1.07	0.33	0.57
Sexual Orientation X Prejudice	1	4.59	4.59	1.41	0.24
Job Type X Prejudice	1	0.76	0.76	0.23	0.63
Sexual Orientation X Job Type X	1	0.45	0.45	0.14	0.71
Prejudice					
Error	274	893.74	3.26		
Total	281	7535.38			

^{*}p<.05

APPENDIX C

MEASURES

Manipulation Check

Instructions: Please answer the following questions based on the application you just studied.

- 1. Please identify the job that the applicant applied for.
 - a. Computer Technician
 - b. Nurse
- 2. Please identify the applicant's gender.
 - a. Male
 - b Female
- 3. Please identify the applicant's name.
 - a. James
 - b. Mary
- 4. Please identify the applicant's sexual orientation.
 - a. Gay
 - b. Straight
- 5. Please identify the applicant's spouse.
 - a. Sarah
 - b. Paul

Sexual Orientation Stereotyping

Instructions: Please select the answer that best represents the extent to which you agree or disagree with each item. (Note: These items were presented within measures of conservatism and conspiracy theory endorsement.)

- 1. Straight men are better at science than gay men.
- 2. Straight women are better at languages, writing, and social studies than lesbian women.
- 3. Straight men are better at most sports compared to gay men.

- 4. Straight me are better at learning to use computers than gay men.
- 5. Straight men are more capable than gay men of killing the enemy in war.
- 6. Straight men are better at making decisions with money than gay men.
- 7. Straight women are better at making decisions about childcare than lesbian women.
- 8. Straight women are interested in different topics of conversation than lesbian women.
- 9. Straight women are more suited for childcare than lesbian women.
- 10. Straight women are better suited than lesbian women to work inside the house.

Sexual Orientation Prejudice

Instructions: Please select the answer that best represents the extent to which you agree or disagree with each statement. (Note: Items excluded from the 3 item measure are italicized.)

- 1. It would be upsetting to me to find out I was alone with a gay man.
- 2. I would feel nervous being in a group of gay men.
- 3. I enjoy being in the company of lesbian women.
- 4. If I knew someone was a lesbian, I'd be open to forming a relationship with that individual
- 5. I would feel comfortable working closely with a gay man.

Religiosity

Instructions: Please select the answer that best represents the extent to which you agree or disagree with each statement.

- 1. I believe in a God who watches over me.
- 2. The events in my life unfold according to a divine or greater plan.
- 3. I try to carry my religious beliefs over into all my other dealings in life.

4. I find strength and comfort in my religion.

REFERENCES

- Agerström, J., & Rooth, D.-O. (2011). The role of automatic obesity stereotypes in real hiring discrimination. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, *96*(4), 790–805. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021594
- Aguinis, H., Culpepper, S. A., & Pierce, C. A. (2010). Revival of Test Bias Research in Preemployment Testing, *95*(4), 648–680. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018714
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1977). Attitude-Behavior Relations: A Theoretical Analysis and Review of Empirical Research. *Psychological Bulletin*, *84*(5), 888–918.
- Allport, G. (1954). The Nature of Prejudice. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Almeida, J., Johnson, R. M., Corliss, H. L., Molnar, B. E., & Azrael, D. (2009). Emotional Distress Among LGBT Youth: The Influence of Perceived Discrimination Based on Sexual Orientation. *Journal of Youth Adolescence*, *38*, 1001–1014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-009-9397-9
- Anteby, M., & Anderson, C. (2014). Research in Organizational Behavior The shifting landscape of LGBT organizational research. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *34*, 3–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2014.08.001
- Arvey, R. D. (1979). Unfair discrimination in the employment interview: legal and psychological aspects. *Psychological Bulletin*, *86*(4), 736–765. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.86.4.736
- Atwater, L. E., & Van Fleet, D. D. (1997). A Nother Ceiling? Can Males Compete for Traditionally Female Jobs? *Journal of Management*, *23*(5), 603–626. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920639702300501
- Avery, D. R. (2006). The Diversity Report The Company We Keep: The Impact of Diversity in our Social Networks. *The Industrial-Organizational* ..., *44*, 33–37.

- Badgett, M. V. L. (1995). The wage effects of sexual orientation discrimination. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 48, 726–739.
- Baltes, B. B., Bauer, C. B., & Frensch, P. A. (2007). Does a Structured Free Recall Intervention Reduce the Effect of Stereotypes on Performance Ratings and by What Cognitive Mechanism? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *92*, 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.1.151
- Barrantes, R. J., & Eaton, A. A. (2018). Sexual Orientation and Leadership Suitability: How Being a Gay Man Affects Perceptions of Fit in Gender-Stereotyped Positions. *Sex Roles*, 79, 549–564.
- Barron, L. G., & Hebl, M. (2013). The force of law: The effects of sexual orientation antidiscrimination legislation on interpersonal discrimination in employment. *Psychology*, *Public Policy, and Law*, *19*(2), 191–205. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028350
- Bauermeister, J. A., Meanley, S., Hickok, A., Pingel, E., VanHemert, W., & Loveluck, J. (2014).

 Sexuality-Related Work Discrimination and Its Association with the Health of Sexual

 Minority Emerging and Y oung Adult Men in the Detroit Metro Area. Sex Research and

 Social Policy, 11, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-013-0139-0
- Bell, M. P., Ozbilgin, M. F., Beauregard, T. A., & Surgevil, O. (2011). Voice, silence, and diversity in 21st century organizations: Strategies for inclusion of gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender employees. *Human Resource Management*, 50, 131–146. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm
- Berry, C. M., Clark, M. A., & Mcclure, T. K. (2011). Racial / Ethnic Differences in the Criterion-Related Validity of Cognitive Ability Tests: A Qualitative and Quantitative Review. *Journal of Applied*, *96*(5), 881–906. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023222

- Blashill, A. J., & Powlishta, K. K. (2009). Gay stereotypes: The use of sexual orientation as a cue for gender-related attributes. *Sex Roles*, *61*(11–12), 783–793. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-009-9684-7
- Bowleg, L. (2013). "Once You've Blended the Cake, You Can't Take the Parts Back to the Main Ingredients": Black Gay and Bisexual Men's Descriptions and Experiences of Intersectionality. *Sex Roles*, 68(11–12), 754–767. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-012-0152-4
- Bowles, H. R., & Mcginn, K. L. (2008). Gender in Job Negotiations: A Two-Level Game.

 Negotiation Journal, 24, 393–410.
- Brenner, B. R., Lyons, H. Z., & Fassinger, R. E. (2010). Can heterosexism harm organizations? Predicting the perceived organizational citizenship behaviors of gay and lesbian employees. *Career Development Quarterly*, 58, 321–335.
- Brewer, M. B. (1999). The Psychology of Prejudice: Ingroup Love or Outgroup Hate? *Journal of Social Issues*, 55(3), 429–444. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00126
- Burke, S. E., Dovidio, J. F., Przedworski, J. M., Hardeman, R. R., Perry, S. P., Phelan, S. M., ... van Ryn, M. (2015). Do Contact and Empathy Mitigate Bias Against Gay and Lesbian People Among Heterosexual First-Year Medical Students? A Report From the Medical Student CHANGE Study. *Academic Medicine*, 90(5), 645–651. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000000000661
- Burn, I. (2018). Not All Laws are Created Equal: Legal Differences in State Non-Discrimination

 Laws and the Impact of LGBT Employment Protections. *Journal of Labor Relations*, 39,

 462–497.
- Butler, A. B., & Skattebo, A. (2004). What is acceptable for women may not be for men: The

- effect of family conflict. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 77, 553–564.
- Cabrera, S. F., Sauer, S. J., & Thomas-Hunt, M. C. (2009). The evolving manager stereotype: The effects of industry gender typing on performance expectations for leaders and their teams.

 *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 33, 419–428.
- Callender, K. A. (2015). Understanding Antigay Bias From a Cognitive- Affective-Behavioral Perspective. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *62*, 782–803. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2014.998965
- Capezza, N. M. (2007). Homophobia and Sexism: The Pros and Cons to an Integrative Approach. *Integrative Psychological and Behavioral Science*, *41*(3–4), 248–253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12124-007-9033-8
- Cascio, W. F., & Aguinis, H. (2011). *Applied Psychology in Human Resource Management* (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Educational Inc.
- Chaudoir, S. R., & Fisher, J. D. (2010). The disclosure processes model: understanding disclosure decision making and postdisclosure outcomes among people living with a concealable stigmatized identity. *Psychological Bulletin*, *136*(2), 236–256. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018193
- Chaudoir, S. R., & Quinn, D. M. (2010). Revealing Concealable Stigmatized Identities: The Impact of Disclosure Motivations and Positive First-Disclosure Experiences on Fear of Disclosure and Well-Being. *Journal of Social Issues*, 66(3), 570–584. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2010.01663.x
- Cleveland, J. N., Stockdale, M., & Murphy, K. R. (2000). How stereotypes affect our perceptions of men and women at work. In J. N. Cleveland & K. R. Murphy (Eds.), *Women and men in*

- organizations: Sex and gender issues at work (pp. 41–66). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Clow, K. A., Ricciardelli, R., & Bartfay, W. J. (2015). Are You Man Enough to be a Nurse? The Impact of Ambivalent Sexism and Role Congruity on Perceptions of Men and Women in Nursing Advertisements. *Sex Roles*, 72, 363–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-014-0418-0
- Conlin, S. E., Douglass, R. P., Ouch, S. (2019). Discrimination, Subjective Wellbeing, and the Role of Gender: A Mediation Model of LGB Minority Stress Discrimination, Subjective Wellbeing, and the Role of Gender: A Mediation Model of LGB Minority Stress. Journal of Homosexuality, 66(2), 238–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2017.139802
- Cortina, L. M. (2008). Unseen Injustice: Incivility As Modern Discrimination in Organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, *33*(1), 55–75.
- Cortland, C. I., Craig, M. A., Shapiro, J. R., Richeson, J. A., Neel, R., & Goldstein, N. J. (2017).
 Solidarity through shared disadvantage: Highlighting shared experiences of discrimination improves relations between stigmatized groups. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 113, 547–567.
- Costa, A.B., Machado, W., Bandeira, D.R., & Nardi, H.C. (2016). Validation study of the revised version of the scale of prejudice against sexual and gender diversity in Brazil. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 63, 1446-1463.
- Cotton, J. L., O'Neill, B. S., & Griffin, A. (2008). The "name game": affective and hiring reactions to first names. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *23*(1), 18–39. https://doi.org/10.1108/02683940810849648
- Cottrell, C. A., & Neuberg, S. L. (2005). Different Emotional Reactions to Different Groups: A Sociofunctional Threat-Based Approach to "Prejudice." *Interpersonal Relations and*

- Group Processes, 88(5), 770–789. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.88.5.770
- Craig, M.A. & Richeson, J.A. (2014). Discrimination divides across identity dimensions:

 Perceived racism reduces support for gay rights and increases anti-gay bias. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 55, 169-174.
- Cronin, A., & King, A. (2010). Power, Inequality and Identification: Exploring Diversity and Intersectionality amongst Older LGB Adults. *Sociology*, *44*(5), 876–892. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038510375738
- Cross, S., & Bagilhole, B. (2002). Girls' jobs for the boys? Men, masculinity, and non-traditional occupations. *Gender, Work, and Organization*, *9*, 204–226.
- Cunningham, G. B. (2011). The LGBT advantage: Examining the relationship among sexual orientation diversity, diversity strategy, and performance. *Sport Management Review*, *14*(4), 453–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2010.11.003
- Cunningham, G. B., Sartore, M. L., & McCullough, B. P. (2010). The influence of applicant sexual orientation, applicant gender, and rater gender on ascribed attributions and hiring recommendations of personal trainers. *Journal of Sports Management*, 24, 400–415.
- Davison, H. K., & Burke, M. J. (2000). Sex Discrimination in Simulated Employment Contexts:

 A Meta-analytic Investigation. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *56*(2), 225–248.

 https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.1999.1711
- Diamond, L. M., & Butterworth, M. (2008). Questioning Gender and Sexual Identity: Dynamic Links Over Time. *Sex Roles*, *59*(5–6), 365–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9425-3
- Dovidio, J. F., & Gaertner, S. L. (2000). Aversive racism and selection decisions: 1989 and 1999. *Psychological Science*, *11*(4), 315–319. https://doi.org/10.1044/2014
- Drydakis, N. (2015). Sexual orientation discrimination in the United Kingdom's labour market:

- A field experiment. *Human Relations*, *68*, 1769–1796. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726715569855
- Eagly, A. H., & Carli, L. L. (2007). Women and the labyrinth of leadership. *Harvard Business Review*, 1–10.
- Eagly, A. H., & Karau, S. J. (2002). Role Congruity Theory of prejudice toward female leaders. *Psychological Review*, 109(3), 573–598. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.109.3.573
- Eccles, J. S., Jacobs, J. E., & Harold, R. D. (1990). Gender Role Stereotypes, Expectancy Effects, and Parents' Socialization of Gender Differences. *Journal of Social Issues*, 46, 183–201.
- Eliason, M. J., Dejoseph, J., Dibble, S., Deevey, S., & Chinn, P. (2011). LESBIAN, GAY,

 BISEXUAL, TRANSGENDER, AND QUEER / QUESTIONING NURSES â€TM

 EXPERIENCES IN THE WORKPLACE. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, *27*, 237–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2011.03.003
- Eliason, M. J., Dibble, S. L., & Robertson, P. A. (2011). Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender (LGBT) Physicians â€TM Experiences in the Workplace. *Journal of Homosexuality*, *58*, 1355–1371. https://doi.org/10.1080/00918369.2011.614902
- Ely, R., & Meyerson, D. (2008). Unmasking manly en. *Harvard Business Review*, *July-Augus*, 20–21.
- English, D., Rendina, H. J., & Parsons, J. T. (2018). The Effects of Intersecting Stigma: A Longitudinal Examination of Minority Stress, Mental Health, and Substance Use Among Black, Latino, and Multiracial Gay and Bisexual Men. Psychology of Violence, 8(6), 669–679.
- Esses, V. M., Haddock, G., & Zanna, M. P. (1993). Values, Stereotypes, and Emotions as

- Determinants of Intergroup Attitudes. In D. M. Mackie & D. . Hamilton (Eds.), *Affect, Cognition, and Stereotyping: Interactive Processes in Group Perception* (pp. 137–166). New York: Academic Press.
- Fiske, S. T. (2002). What We Know Now About Bias and Intergroup Conflict, the Problem of the Century. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 11(4), 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00183
- Foglia, M. B., & Fredriksen-Goldsen, K. I. (2014). Health Disparities among LGBT Older Adults and the Role of Nonconscious Bias. *Hastings Center Report*, *44*(s4), S40–S44. https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.369
- Gamson, J., & Moon, D. (2004). The Sociology of Sexualities: Queer and Beyond. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 30(1), 47–64. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.30.012703.110522
- Garretson, J. (2015). Exposure to the Lives of Lesbians and Gays and the Origin of Young

 People's Greater Support for Gay Rights. International Journal of Public Opinion Research,

 27, 277
- Gatewood, R. ., Feild, H. S., & Barrick, M. (2008). *Human Resource Selection* (7th ed.). Mason, OH: South-Western, Cengage Learning.
- Ghumman, S., & Ryan, A. M. (2013). Not welcome here: Discrimination towards women who wear the Muslim headscarf. *Human Relations*, 66(5), 671–698. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726712469540
- Glick, P., Zion, C., & Nelson, C. (1988). What mediates sex discrimination in hiring decisions?

 Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 55(2), 178–186.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.55.2.178
- Good, J. J., Sanchez, D. T., & Chavez, G. F. (2013). White ancestry in perceptions of

- Black/White biracial individuals: Implications for affirmative-action contexts. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 43, 276–286. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12020
- Goodman, J. a., Schell, J., Alexander, M. G., & Eidelman, S. (2008). The impact of a derogatory remark on prejudice toward a gay male leader. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *38*(2), 542–555. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2008.00316.x
- Greenberg, J. (1986). Determinants of perceived fairness of performance evaluations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71, 340-342.
- Greenwald, A. G., & Banaji, M. R. (1995). Implicit Social Cognition: Attitudes, Self-Esteem, and Stereotypes. *Psychological Review*, *102*(1), 4–27. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.102.1.4
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Mclaughlin, K. A., Keyes, K. M., & Hasin, D. S. (2010). The Impact of Institutional Discrimination on Psychiatric Disorders in Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Populations: A Prospective Study. American Journal of Public Health, 100(3), 452–460. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.168815
- Holland, L., Matthews, T.L., & Schott, M.R. (2013). "That's so gay!" Exploring college students' attitudes toward the LGBT population. *Journal of Homosexuality*, 60, 575-595.
- Hebl, M. R., Foster, J. B., Mannix, L. M., & Dovidio, J. F. (2002). Formal and Interpersonal Discrimination: A Field Study of Bias Toward Homosexual Applicants. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(6), 815–825. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167202289010
- Heilman, M. E. (2001). Description and Prescription: How Gender Stereotypes Prevent
 Women's Ascent Up the Organizational Ladder. *Journal of Social Issues*, 57(4), 657–674.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00234
- Heilman, M. E., & Eagly, A. H. (2008). Gender Stereotypes Are Alive, Well, and Busy

- Producing Workplace Discrimination. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, *1*, 393–398.
- Heilman, M. E., & Stopeck, M. H. (1985). Attractiveness and corporate success: Different causal attributions for males and females. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70, 379–388.
- Heilman, M. E., & Wallen, A. S. (2010). Wimpy and undeserving of respect: Penalties for men's gender-inconsistent success. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *46*(4), 664–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2010.01.008
- Heilman, M. E., Wallen, A. S., Fuchs, D., & Tamkins, M. M. (2004). Penalties for Success: Reactions to Women Who Succeed at Male Gender-Typed Tasks. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 89(3), 416–427. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.89.3.416
- Herek, G. M. (2000). The psychology of sexual prejudice. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*2, 9, 19–22.
- Hershcovis, M. S. (2011). "Incivility, social undermining, bullying...oh my!": A call to reconcile constructs within workplace aggression research. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 32(3), 499–519. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.689
- Hewstone, M., Rubin, M., & Willis, H. (2002). Ntergroup ias. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 53(1), 575–604. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135109
- Highhouse, S. (2008). Stubborn Reliance on Intuition and Subjectivity in Employee Selection. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 1, 333–342.
- Hoffarth, M. R., & Hodson, G. (2014). Is subjective ambivalence toward gays a modern form of bias? *Personality and Individual Differences*, 69, 75–80.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.05.014
- Horvath, M., & Ryan, A. M. (2003). Antecedents and potential moderators of the relationship

- between attitudes and hiring discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation. *Sex Roles*, 48(3–4), 115–130. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022499121222
- Hosoda, M., & Stone-Romero, E. (2010). The effets of foreign accents on employement-related decisions. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *25*, 113–132.
- Hunter, J. E., Schmidt, F. L., & Hunter, R. (1979). Differential Validity of Employment Tests by Race: A Comprehensive Review and Analysis for. *Psychological Bulletin*, 86(4), 721–735.
- Ibarra, H., Carter, N. M., & Silva, C. (2010). Why men still get more promotions than women. *Harvard Business Review*, 80–85.
- Jones, K. P., & King, E. B. (2014). Managing Concealable Stigmas at Work: A Review and Multilevel Model. *Journal of Management*, 40(5), 1466–1494. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313515518
- Jones, K. P., Peddie, C. I., Gilrane, V. L., King, E. B., & Gray, A. L. (2013). Not So Subtle: A Meta-Analytic Investigation of the Correlates of Subtle and Overt Discrimination. *Journal of Management*, *XX*(X), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206313506466
- Jones, K. P., Sabat, I. E., King, E. B., Ahmad, A., McCausland, T. C., & Chen, T. (2017). Isms and schisms: A meta-analysis of the prejudice-discrimination relationship across racism, sexism, and ageism. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *38*(7), 1076–1110. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2187
- Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1972). Subjective probability: A judgment of representativeness. *Cognitive Psychology*, 3(3), 430–454. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0285(72)90016-3
- Kessler, R. C., Mickelson, K. D., & Williams, D. R. (1999). The prevalence, distribution, and mental health correlates of perceived discrimination in the United States. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 40, 208–230.

- King, E. B., & Cortina, J. M. (2010). The Social and Economic Imperative of Lesbian, Gay,
 Bisexual, and Transgendered Supportive Organizational Policies. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 3, 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1754-9434.2009.01201.x
- Kite, M. E., & Deaux, K. (1986). Attitudes Toward Homosexuality: Assessment and Behavioral Consequences. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 7, 137–162.
- Kite, M. E., & Deaux, K. (1987). Gender belief systems: Homosexuality and the implicit inversion theory. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 11, 83–96.
- Koenig, A. M., & Eagly, A. H. (2014). Extending Role Congruity Theory of Prejudice to Men and Women With Sex-Typed Mental Illnesses. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 36, 70–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2013.856789
- Koenig, A. M., Eagly, A. H., Mitchell, A. A., & Ristikari, T. (2011). Are Leader Stereotypes

 Masculine? A Meta-Analysis of Three Research Paradigms. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*,
 616–642. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023557
- Kraiger, K., & Ford, J. K. (1985). A meta-analysis of ratee race effects in performance ratings. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70(1), 56–65. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.70.1.56
- Kraiger, K., & Ford, J. K. (1990). The relation of job knowledge, job performance, and supervisory ratings as a function of ratee race. *Human Performance*, *3*(269–279).
- Krings, F., Sczesny, S., & Kluge, A. (2011). Stereotypical Inferences as Mediators of Age

 Discrimination: The Role of Competence and Warmth. *British Journal of Management*, 22,

 187–201. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8551.2010.00721.x
- Kulik, C. T., & Olekalns, M. (2012). Negotiating the Gender Divide: Lessons From the
 Negotiation and Organizational Behavior Literatures. *Journal of Management*, 38(4), 1387–1415. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206311431307

- Kulik, C. T., Roberson, L., & Perry, E. L. (2007). The multiple-category problem: Category activiation and inhibtion in the hiring process. *Academy of Management Review*, *32*(2), 529–548.
- Landy, F. J., & Farr, J. L. (1980). Performance rating. *Psychological Bulletin*, 87(1), 72–107. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.87.1.72
- Leblanc, A. J., Frost, D. M., & Wight, R. G. (2015). Minority Stress and Stress Proliferation Among Same-Sex and Other Marginalized Couples. Journal of Marriage and Family, 77(February), 40–59. https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12160
- Lehavot, K., & Lambert, A. J. (2007). Toward a Greater Understanding of Antigay Prejudice:

 On the Role of Sexual Orientation and Gender Role Violation. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 29(3), 279–292.
- Leskinen, E. A., Rabelo, V. C., & Cortina, L. M. (2015). Gender Stereotyping and Harassment:

 A "Catch-22" for Women in the Workplace. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 21*, 192–204.
- Lewin, K. (1951). *Field theory in social science: Selected theoretical papers*. (D. Cartwright, Ed.). New York: Harper Torchbooks.
- Lim, A. C., Nam, R., & Trau, C. (2018). Task interdependence and the discrimination of gay men and lesbians in the workplace. *Human Resource Management*, 57, 1385–1397. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21912
- Lindzey, G. (1950). An experimental examination of the scapegoat theory of prejudice. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 45(2), 296–309. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0059390
- Lynch, J. W., & Rodell, J. B. (2018). Blend In or Stand Out? Interpersonal Outcomes of Managing Concealable Stigmas at Work. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 103(12), 1307–

- Lyons, H. Z., Brenner, B. R., & Fassinger, R. E. (2005). A Multicultural Test of the Theory of Work Adjustment: Investigating the Role of Heterosexism and Fit Perceptions in the Job Satisfaction of Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Employees. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52, 537–548. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.4.537
- Marlowe, C. M., Schneider, S. L., & Nelson, C. E. (1996). Gender and attractiveness biases in hiring decisions: Are more experienced managers less biased? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(1), 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.81.1.11
- Maurer, T. J., & Taylor, M. A. (1994). Is sex by itself enough? An exploration of gender bias issues in performance appraisal. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 60, 231–251.
- Mays, V. M., & Cochran, S. D. (2001). Mental Health Correlates of Perceived Discrimination Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Adults in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91(11), 1869–1876.
- Mccabe, S. E., Bostwick, W. B., Hughes, T. L., West, B. T., & Boyd, C. J. (2010). The Relationship Between Discrimination and Substance Use Disorders Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Adults in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(10), 1946–1953. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.163147
- McConahay, J. B. (1983). Modern Racism and Modern Discrimination: The Effects of Race, Racial Attitudes, and Context on Simulated Hiring Decisions. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *9*(4), 551–558. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167283094004
- McConahay, J. B. (1983). Modern Racism and Modern Discrimination: The Effects of Race, Racial Attitudes, and Context on Simulated Hiring Decisions. *Personality and Social*

- Psychology Bulletin, 9(4), 551–558. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167283094004
- McFadden, C. (2015). Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Careers and Human Resource

 Development: A Systematic Literature Review. Human Resource Development Review,

 14, 125–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484314549456
- McPhail, R., McNulty, Y., & Hutchings, K. (2016). Lesbian and gay expatriation: opportunities, barriers and challenges for global mobility. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 27(3), 382–406.
- Melchers, , K.G., Lienhardt, N., von Aarburg, M., & Kleinmann, M. (2011). Is more structure better? A comparison of frame-of-reference training and descriptively anchored rating scales to improve interviewers' rating quality. *Personnel Psychology*, 64, 53-87.
- Melgoza, A. R., & Cox, J. W. (2009). Subtle sexism: Re-informing intergroup bias and regulating emotion in an Australian police organization. *Journal of Management and Organization*, 15, 652–666.
- Meyer, I. (1995). Minority stress and mental health in gay men. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *36*, 38–56.
- Meyer, I. H. (2003). Prejudice, social stress, and mental health in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: Conceptual issues and research evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*, 674–697.
- Mullen, B., & Hu, L.-T. (1989). Perceptions of Ingroup and Outgroup Variability: A Meta-Analytic Integration. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, *10*(3), 233–252. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324834basp1003_3
- Newheiser, A.-K., & Barreto, M. (2014). Hidden costs of hiding stigma: Ironic interpersonal consequences of concealing a stigmatized identity in social interactions. *Journal of*

- Experimental Social Psychology, 52, 58–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2014.01.002
- Ng, E. S. W., Schweitzer, L., & Lyons, S. T. (2012). Anticipated Discrimination and a Career Choice in Nonprofit: A Study of Early Transgendered (LGBT) Job Seekers. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 32, 332–352. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734371X12453055
- Nickerson, R. (1998). Confirmation bias: A ubiquitous phenomenon in many guises. *Review of General Psychology*, 2(2), 175–220. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.2.2.175
- Nosek, B. A., Banaji, M. R., & Greenwald, A. G. (2002). Math 6 Male, Me 6 Female, Therefore Math Me. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83, 44–59. https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-3514.83.1.44
- O'Brien, L. T., Crandall, C. S., Horstman-Reser, A., Warner, R., Alsbrooks, A., & Blodorn, A. (2010). But I 'm No Bigot: How Prejudiced White Americans Maintain Unprejudiced Self-Images. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 40, 917–946.
- Ohman, A. (2008). Fear and Anxiety. In M. Lewis, J. . Haviland, & L. Barrett-Feldman (Eds.), *Handbook of Emotions* (3rd ed., pp. 709–728). New York: Guilford Press.
- Park, J., Malachi, E., Sternin, O., & Tevet, R. (2009). Subtle bias against muslim job applicants in personnel decisions. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 39, 2174–2190. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2009.00520.x
- Pascoe, E. A., & Smart Richman, L. (2009). Perceived discrimination and health: A metaanalytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, *135*(4), 531–554. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016059
- Pedulla, D. S. (2014). The Positive Consequences of Negative Stereotypes: Race, Sexual Orientation, and the Job Application Process. Social Psychology Quarterly, 77, 75–94.
- Pichler, S., Varma, A., & Bruce, T. (2010). Heterosexism in Employment Decisions: The Role of Job Misfit. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 40, 2527–2555.

- Posthuma, R. A., & Campion, M. A. (2009). Age Stereotypes in the Workplace: Common Stereotypes, Moderators, and Future Research Directions. *Journal of Management*, *35*(1), 158–188. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206308318617
- Powell, G. N., Greenhaus, J. H., & Powell, G. N. (2010). the Family → Work Interface. *Journal of Management*, 36, 1011–1039. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206309350774
- Prasad, P., & Baron, J. (1995). Measurement of gender-role attitudes, beliefs, and principles.
- Prati, F., Crisp, R. J., & Rubini, M. (2015). Counter-stereotypes reduce emotional intergroup bias by eliciting surprise in the face of unexpected category combinations. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 61(31–43).
- Prewett-Livingston, A. J., Feild, H. S., & Lewis, P. M. (1996). Effects of Race on Interview Ratings in a Situational Panel Interview. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(2).
- Purdie-Vaughns, V., & Eibach, R. P. (2008). Intersectional invisibility: The distinctive advantages and disadvantages of multiple subordinate-group identities. *Sex Roles*, *59*(5–6), 377–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-008-9424-4
- Ragins, B. R. (2004). Sexual orientation in the workplace: The unique work and career experiences of gay, lesbian, and bisexual workers. *Research in Personnel and Human Resource Management*, 23, 37–120.
- Ragins, B. R. (2008). Disclosure Disconnects: Atecedents and Consequences of Disclosing Invisible Stigmas Across Life Domains. *Academy of Management. The Academy of Management Review*, 33(1), 194–215.
- Ragins, B. R., & Cornwell, J. M. (2001). Pink triangles: antecedents and consequences of perceived workplace discrimination against gay and lesbian employees. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(6), 1244–1261. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.6.1244

- Ragins, B. R., Cornwell, J. M., & Miller, J. S. (2003). Heterosexism in the Workplace: Do Race

 And Gender Matter? *Group & Organization Management*, 28(1), 45–74.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601102250018
- Ragins, B. R., Singh, R., & Cornwell, J. M. (2007). Making the invisible visible: fear and disclosure of sexual orientation at work. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(4), 1103–18. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.4.1103
- Reyna, C. (2000). Lazy, Dumb, or Industrious: When Stereotypes Convey Attribution Information in the Classroom. *Educational Psychology Review*, *12*, 85–110.
- Rodenborg, N. a, & Boisen, L. a. (2013). Aversive Racism and Intergroup Contact Theories: Cultural Competence in a Segregated World. *Journal of Social Work Education*, *49*(4), 564–579. https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2013.812463
- Rosette, A. S., Mueller, J. S., & Lebel, R. D. (2015). Are male leaders penalized for seeking help? The in fl uence of gender and asking behaviors on competence perceptions. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *26*, 749–762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.02.001
- Rudman, L. A., & Glick, P. (1999). Feminized management and backlash toward agentic women: the hidden costs to women of a kinder, gentler image of middle managers. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(5), 1004–1010. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.77.5.1004
- Rudolph, C. W., Baltes, B. B., Zhdanova, L. S., Clark, M. A., & Bal, A. C. (2012). Testing the Structured Free Recall Intervention for Reducing the Impact of Bodyweight-Based
 Stereotypes on Performance Ratings in Immediate and Delayed Contexts. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, 27, 205–222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-011-9240-7
- Ruggs, E. N., Hebl, M. R., Walker, S. S., & Fa-Kaji, N. (2014). Selection biases that emerge

- when age meets gender. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 29(8), 1028–1043. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMP-07-2012-0204
- Rutledge, S. E., Siebert, D. C., Siebert, C., & Chonody, J. (2012). Attitudes Toward Gays and Lesbians: A Latent Class Analysis of University Students Attitudes Toward Gays and Lesbians: A Latent Class Analysis of University Students. *Journal of Social Service Research*, *38*, 18–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2011.598721
- Ryan, A. M., & Wessel, J. L. (2012). Sexual orientation harassment in the workplace: When do observers intervene? *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *33*, 488–509.
- Sackett, P. R., Schmitt, N., Ellingson, J. E., & Kabin, M. B. (2001). High-Stakes Testing in Employment, Credentialing, and Higher Education. *American Psychologist*, *56*(4), 302–318.
- Savin-Williams, R. C. (2006). Who's gay? Does it matter? *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 15(1), 40–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2006.00403.x
- Sawyer, K., Salter, N., & Thoroughgood, C. (2013). Studying Individual Identities Is Good, But Examining Intersectionality Is Better. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, *6*(1), 80–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/iops.12012
- Schmidt, F. L., & Hunter, J. E. (1981). Employment testing: Old Theories and New Research Findings. *American Psychologist*, *36*(10), 1128–1137.
- Schmidt, F. L., & Hunter, J. E. (1998). The validity and utility of selection methods in personnel psychology: Practial and theoretical implications of 85 years of research findings.

 Psychology Bulletin, 124, 262-274.
- Schneider, B. (1987). The People Make the Place. *Personnel Psychology*, 40(3), 437–453. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006247-199305000-00001

- Schneider, D. J. (2004). The Psychology of Stereotyping. New York: Guilford Press.
- Sherif, M., Harvey, O. J., White, B. J., Hood, W. R., & Sherif, C. W. (1961). *Intergroup Conflict and Cooperation: The Robbers Cave Experiment*. (U. B. Exchange, Ed.) (10th ed.).

 Norman, OK.
- Shih, M., & Sanchez, D. T. (2009). When race becomes even more complex: Toward understanding the landscape of multiracial identity and experiences. *Journal of Social Issues*, 65(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.2008.01584.x
- Sinclair, S., & Carlsson, R. (2013). What will I be when I grow up? The impact of gender identity threat on adolescents' occupational preferences. *Journal of Adolescence*, *36*, 465–474.
- Smith, N. G., & Ingram, K. M. (2004). Workplace Heterosexism and Adjustment Among Lesbian, Gay, and Bisexual Individuals: The Role of Unsupportive Social Interactions. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 51, 57–67. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.51.1.57
- Stancor, C., Sullivan, L. A., & Ford, T. E. (1991). Affective and cognitive determinants of prejudice. *Social Cognition*, *9*(4), 359–380.
- Steele, C. M., & Aronson, J. (1995). Stereotype threat and the intellectual test performance of African Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(5), 797–811. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.5.797
- Sue, D. W., Capodilupo, C. M., Torino, G. C., Bucceri, J. M., Holder, A. M. B., Nadal, K. L., & Esquilin, M. (2007). Racial Microaggressions in Everyday Life: Implications for Clinical Practice. *American Psychologist*, 62, 271–286. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.62.4.271
- Swim, J. K., Aikin, K. J., Hall, W. S., & Hunter, B. A. (1995). Sexism and racism: Old-fashioned and modern prejudices. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68(2), 199–214.

- https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.68.2.199
- Szymanski, D. M. (2006). Does Internalized Heterosexism Moderate the Link Between Heterosexist Events and Lesbians 'Psychological Distress? *Sex Roles*, *54*, 227–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-006-9340-4
- Tabachnick, B.G. & Fidell, L.S. (2013). *Using Multivariate Statistics*: 6th Edition. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Talaska, C. A., Fiske, S. T., & Chaiken, S. (2008). Legitimating racial discrimination: Emotions, not beliefs, best predict discrimination in a meta-analysis. *Social Justice Research*, *21*, 263–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2011.07.011.Innate
- Tilcsik, A., Anteby, M., & Knight, C. R. (2015). Concealable Stigma and Occupational Segregation: Toward a Theory of Gay and Lesbian Occupations. Administrative Science Quarterly, 60, 446–481. https://doi.org/10.1177/0001839215576401
- Turner, R. N., Hewstone, M., & Voci, A. (2007). Reducing explicit and implicit outgroup prejudice via direct and extended contact: The mediating role of self-disclosure and intergroup anxiety. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *93*(3), 369–388. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.93.3.369
- Van Hoye, G., & Lievens, F. (2003). The effects of sexual orientation on hirability ratings: An experimental study. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *18*(1), 15–30.
- Velez, B. L., & Moradi, B. (2012). Workplace Support, Discrimination, and Person –
 Organization Fit: Tests of the Theory of Work Adjustment With LGB Individuals. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 59, 399–407. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028326
- Walker, N. A., & Melton, E. N. (2015). The Tipping Point: The Intersection of Race, Gender, and Sexual Orientation in Intercollegiate Sports. *Journal of Sport Management*, 29(3), 257–

271. https://doi.org/10.1123/jsm.2013-0079

Wilson, T. D., Lindsey, S., & Schooler, T. Y. (2000). A model of dual attitudes. *Psychological Review*, *107*(1), 101–126. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-295X.107.1.101

119

ABSTRACT

GAY AND LESBIAN DISCRIMINATION IN THE WORKPLACE: THE ROLE OF AGENTIC AND COMMUNAL TRAIT EXPECTATIONS

by

DANIEL R KRENN

May 2019

Advisor: Dr. Boris Baltes

Major: Psychology (Industrial and Organizational)

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Workplace discrimination is a recurring problem in organizations, particularly in organizational processes such as employee selection. Such discrimination is caused by a variety of factors including stereotyping of people by demographic identities and prejudice against various demographic groups. While federal and local legislation protects many stigmatized groups such as race and gender minorities, sexual minorities are largely unprotected. Previous research on sexual orientation reveals a diverse set of negative experiences. However, evidence for formal discrimination against sexual minorities in personnel selection has been inconclusive. Drawing on Role Congruity Theory, perceived characteristic misfit, cognitive stereotyping, and emotionally influenced prejudicial feelings are examined as explanations for how and when sexual orientation influences selection decisions. Results of the study reveal that situational and demographic moderators do affect sexual orientation-related hiring bias. However, results suggest that the central premises of Role Congruity Theory do not extend to sexual orientation.

AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

Daniel Krenn is Diversity Data Analyst for NASA's Marshall Space Flight Center (MSFC). In his current role, he helps to guide MSFC's actions to decrease unfair personnel practices and barriers to employment that lead to demographic disparities in representation and success. Daniel previously served as a Personnel Analyst for the Mobile County Personnel Board, where he predominately focused on job analysis, employee selection, applicant assessment, and organizational restructuring. He received his B.A. in Psychology from Auburn University, and received his M.A. and PhD in Industrial/Organizational Psychology from Wayne State University. His research interests relate to employee well-being and organizational fairness. His research primarily examines aggressive and discriminatory behavior in the workplace, biases/accuracy in personnel practices, and work-life balance.